PUBLICATIONS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF EASTERN FINLAND

# Dissertations in Forestry and Natural Sciences



MERJA JÄRVELÄ

METAL WORKERS' OCCUPATIONAL EXPOSURE TO PARTICLES AND ITS EFFECTS ON INFLAMMATION MARKERS AND PULMONARY FUNCTION

Merja Järvelä

## METAL WORKERS' OCCUPATIONAL EXPOSURE TO PARTICLES AND ITS EFFECTS ON INFLAMMATION MARKERS AND PULMONARY FUNCTION

Publications of the University of Eastern Finland Dissertations in Forestry and Natural Sciences No 306

Academic dissertation

To be presented by permission of the Faculty of Science and Forestry for public examination in the Auditorium SN200 in the Snellmania Building at the University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, on June, 16, 2018, at 12 o'clock noon.

Department of Environmental Science and Biological Sciences

Grano Oy Jyväskylä, 2018 Editor: Research Director Pertti Pasanen

Distribution: University of Eastern Finland Library/Sales of publications PO Box 107, FI-80101 Joensuu, Finland www.uef.fi/kirjasto

> ISBN: 978-952-61-2809-2 (printed) ISBN: 978-952-61-2810-8 (PDF) ISSNL: 1798-5668 ISSN: 1798-5668 ISSN: 1798-5676 (PDF)

Author's address	University of Eastern Finland Department of Environmental Sciences P.O. Box 1627 70211 KUOPIO FINLAND email: <u>merja.jarvela@gmail.com</u>
Supervisors	Research Director Pertti Pasanen, Ph.D. University of Eastern Finland Department of Environmental Sciences P.O. Box 1627 70211 KUOPIO FINLAND email: <u>pertti.pasanen@uef.fi</u>
	Chief Specialist Timo Tuomi, Ph.D. Finnish Institute of Occupational Health P.O. Box 40 00251 HELSINKI FINLAND email: <u>timo.tuomi@ttl.fi</u>
	Docent Timo Hannu, M.D., Ph.D. University of Helsinki Clinicum Department of Public Health P.O. Box 20 00014 HELSINGIN YLIOPISTO FINLAND email: <u>timo.hannu@helsinki.fi</u>
Reviewers	Professor Harri Alenius Institute of Environmental Medicine Karolinska Institutet C6, Systems toxicology Box 210 17171 STOCKHOLM SWEDEN email: <u>harri.alenius@ki.se</u> Professor Keld Alstrup Jensen National Research Centre for the Working Environment Lerso Parkallé 105 DK 2100 CORENIH ACEN
	DENMARK email: <u>kaj@nrcwe.dk</u>
Opponent	Chancellor Kaarle Hämeri University of Helsinki P.O. Box 3 (Yliopistonkatu 2) 00014 HELSINGIN YLIOPISTO FINLAND email: <u>kaarle.hameri@helsinki.fi</u>

Järvelä, Merja METAL WORKERS' OCCUPATIONAL EXPOSURE TO PARTICLES AND ITS EFFECTS ON INFLAMMATION MARKERS AND PULMONARY FUNCTION Kuopio: Itä-Suomen yliopisto, 2018 Publications of the University of Eastern Finland Dissertation in Forestry and Natural Sciences ISBN: 978-952-61-2809-2 (print) ISSNL: 1798-5668 ISSN: 1798-5668 ISBN: 978-952-61-2810-8 (PDF) ISSN: 1798-5676 (PDF)

### ABSTRACT

Tens of thousands of Finnish workers are exposed to metal particles. Respiratory exposure levels vary between the metal industries; in fact all the particulate emissions caused by industrial processes, especially if measured in particle number concentrations, have been poorly reported. Environmental exposure to outdoor particles and occupational exposure to welding fumes are known to cause harmful lung and cardiovascular effects as well as cancer, but the detailed mechanisms mediating these effects are not fully understood. Inflammation has been associated with the development of cancer and an inflammatory response has also been implicated in the development of atherosclerosis.

The present study investigated occupational exposure to particles in welding workplaces and in a ferrochromium and stainless steel production line with particle exposures being measured in both mass and number concentrations. In addition, changes in welders' blood inflammation markers and pulmonary function were studied in both workplace and the welding exposure tests, which were performed in workers with suspected occupational asthma. Ferrochromium and stainless steel workers' blood and lung inflammatory marker levels were compared to the levels observed in unexposed workers, and the associations between stainless steel workers particle exposure and levels of systemic and pulmonary inflammation markers were studied.

In welding workplaces, the inhalable dust concentrations measured in the breathing zone were higher for welders than for sheet metal workers. Nevertheless, the exposure dose in sheet metal workers could be higher because most of the welders used effective respiratory protection while working, whereas sheet metal workers did not wear any respiratory protection. Employees using the MIG/MAG welding technique were exposed to higher concentrations of particulate matter than sheet metal workers. In the welding exposure tests, the average total particle number

conentration varied between  $1.7 \times 10^6$  and  $3.2 \times 10^6$  particles/cm<sup>3</sup>. The particle size distribution was unimodal with most of the particles being about 430 nm in size.

In the production of ferrochrome and stainless steel, exposure to particle mass and number concentrations were highest at the beginning of the production, during the sintering, ferrochromium smelting and steel melting phases. In contrast, exposure was the lowest at the end of the production chain at the cold rolling mill. Workers' personal exposure was significantly reduced as compared to the process area particle concentration levels because workers spent about 85 % of their working time in control rooms where the particle concentrations were generally equivalent to the levels measured in office environments.

Welding fume exposure caused a decrease in blood hemoglobin and erythrocytes as well as increasing the levels of leukocytes and neutrophils. Exposure also resulted in changes in blood interleukin-1 $\beta$  and E-selectin levels. No changes were found in the lung function tests in the workplaces during the working day, but after the welding exposure tests, a slight decrease in FEV<sub>1</sub> and PEF values was observed.

Among ferrochromium and stainless steel workers, no associations were found between the particle exposure and the inflammation markers. However, the baseline inflammation marker levels of the chromium-exposed groups differed slightly as compared to non-exposed controls.

In conclusion, exposure to welding fume particles resulted in a mild acute systemic inflammation when measured as changes in blood inflammatory markers. Therefore, exposure to particles containing metals should be reduced by using control measures that improve occupational hygiene in all working environments where exposure to metal particles is likely.

#### National Library of Medicine Classification: QV 290, QZ 150, WA 450, WB 284

Medical Subject Headings: Occupational Exposure; Air Pollutants, Occupational; Workplace; Particulate Matter; Dust; Metals; Stainless Steel; Chromium; Welding; Inflammation; Cytokines; Hemoglobins; Erythrocytes; Leukocytes; Neutrophils; Interleukin-1beta; E-Selectin; Lung; Respiratory Function Tests; Asthma, Occupational Järvelä, Merja METALLITYÖNTEKIJÖIDEN TYÖPERÄINEN HIUKKASALTISTUMINEN JA VAIKUTUKSET TULEHDUSVÄLITTÄJÄAINEISIIN SEKÄ KEUHKOJEN TOIMINTAAN. Kuopio: Itä-Suomen yliopisto, 2018. Publications of the University of Eastern Finland Dissertation in Forestry and Natural Sciences ISBN: 978-952-61-2809-2 (nid.) ISSNL: 1798-5668 ISSN: 1798-5668 ISBN: 978-952-61-2810-8 (PDF) ISSN: 1798-5676 (PDF)

## TIIVISTELMÄ

Kymmenet tuhannet työntekijät altistuvat Suomessa metalleja sisältäville hiukkasille. Altistumistasot vaihtelevat eri metallitoimialoilla, eikä edes kaikkien teollisuusprosessien aiheuttamia hiukkaspäästöjä hiukkasten lukumääräpitoisuutena mitattuna vielä tiedetä. Ulkoilman hiukkasille ja työperäisen hitsaushuuruille altistumisen tiedetään aiheuttavan haitallisia keuhko- ja sydänvaikutuksia sekä syöpää, mutta tarkkoja vaikutusmekanismeja näiden vakavien vaikutusten takana ei kuitenkaan täysin tunneta. Viime vuosina tulehdus on yhdistetty niin syövän syntyyn kuin valtimokovettumataudinkin kehittymiseen.

Tässä väitöstutkimuksessa tutkittiin ja karakterisoitiin työperäistä hiukkasaltistumista hitsaustyöpaikoilla sekä ferrokromin ja ruostumattoman teräksen tuotantoketjussa. Hiukkasten pitoisuutta mitattiin sekä massa- että lukumääräpitoisuuksina. Lisäksi tutkittiin hitsaushuurualtistumisen aiheuttamia äkillisiä muutoksia veren tulehdusmarkkereihin ja keuhkojen toimintaan hitsaajilla niin työpaikoilla kuin ammattitautiepäilypotilaille tehtävillä hitsausaltistuskokeilla. Ferrokromin ja ruostumattoman teräksen tuotantotyöntekijöiden veren ja keuhkojen tulehdusmarkkeritasoja verrattiin kromille altistumattomien työntekijöiden tasoihin sekä tutkittiin hiukkasaltistumisen osuutta tulehdusvälittäjäaineiden pitoisuuksiin.

Hitsaustyöpaikoilla hengitysvyöhykkeeltä mitatut hengittyvän pölyn pitoisuudet olivat korkeampia hitsaajilla kuin levysepillä. Siitä huolimatta levyseppien todellinen altistuminen saattoi olla suurempaa, koska suurin osa hitsaajista käytti tehokkaita hengityksensuojaimia työskennellessään, kun taas levysepät eivät käyttäneet hengityksen suojaimia juuri ollenkaan. MIG/MAG hitsaustekniikkaa käyttäneet työntekijät altistuivat suuremmille hiukkaspitoisuuksille kuin puikkohitsaajat. Hitsausaltistuskokeissa hiukkasten keskimääräinen kokonaislukumääräpitoisuus vaihteli  $1.7 \times 10^6$  ja  $3.2 \times 10^6$  hiukkasta/cm<sup>3</sup> välillä. Hiukkaskokojakauma oli yksimoodinen ja suurin osa hiukkasista oli noin 430 nm:n kokoisia.

Ferrokromin ja ruostumattoman teräksen tuotannossa altistuminen hiukkasten massa- ja lukumääräpitoisuuksille oli korkeinta tuotantoketjun alkupäässä, sintraamossa, ferrokromisulatossa ja terässulatossa. Tuotantoketjun lopussa, kylmävalssaamossa, altistuminen oli vähäisintä. Tuotantotyöntekijöiden henkilökohtaiseen altistumiseen vaikutti merkittävästi se, että työajasta noin 85 % vietetään valvomohuoneissa, joissa hiukkasten lukumääräpitoisuudet vastasivat pääsääntöisesti toimistoympäristöissä mitattuja tasoja.

Hitsaushiukkasille altistuminen aiheutti veren hemoglobiini- ja erytrosyyttitasojen laskua sekä leukosyyttien ja neutrofiilisten valkosolujen pitoisuuksien nousua. Altistuminen aiheutti muutoksia myös veren interleukiini-1βja E-selektiinipitoisuuksien tasoissa. Keuhkojen toimintakokeissa ei havaittu muutoksia työpaikoilla työpäivän aikana, mutta hitsausaltistuskokeiden jälkeen havaittiin lievää laskua sekä FEV<sub>1</sub>- ja PEF-arvoissa.

Ferrokromin ja ruostumattoman teräksen työntekijöiden altistumisen ja tulehdusmarkkereiden välillä ei löydetty yhteyttä, vaikka kromialtistumisen mukaan jaettujen ryhmien tulehdustasot poikkesivatkin hieman toisistaan.

Yhteenvetona voidaan todeta, että hitsaushiukkasille altistuminen aiheuttaa lievää, äkillistä ja koko elimistöä koskevaa tulehdusta mitattuna veren tulehdusmerkkiaineiden muutoksina. Siksi altistumista metalleja sisältäville hiukkasille tulisi vähentää käyttäen työhygieniaa parantavia hallintakeinoja kaikissa työympäristöissä, joissa altistuminen metallihiukkasille on todennäköistä.

Yleinen suomalainen asiasanasto: altistuminen; altisteet; ilman epäpuhtaudet; työympäristö; hiukkaset; pöly; metalliteollisuus; metallit; ruostumaton teräs; ferrokromi; kromi; hitsaus; hitsaajat; levytyö; tulehdus; markkerit; sytokiinit; hemoglobiini; punasolut; valkosolut; interleukiinit; keuhkot; astma

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thesis was carried out in the Department of Environmental Sciences, University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio and in Aerosols, Dusts and Metals Team, Finnish Institute of Occupational Health, Helsinki. The study was financed by the Finnish Work Environment Fund (grants 106106, 108117, 116245).

I am extremely thankful for the scientific guidance and support from my supervisors, Research Director Pertti Pasanen, Chief Specialist Timo Tuomi and Docent Timo Hannu. I wish to thank all of my supervisors for their kind encouragement, guidance and support during these more than ten years.

I express my gratitude to Professor Harri Alenius and Professor Keld Alstrup Jensen for conducting the expert review of my thesis and giving me constructive comments on the manuscript. I wish to thank Chancellor Kaarle Hämeri from the University of Helsinki for accepting the invitation to act as the opponent of my doctoral dissertation. I am also grateful to Even MacDonald, Pharm.D., for linguistic revision of my thesis.

I express my deepest gratitude to all co-authors. The original articles could not have been completed without their contributions. Special thanks to Paula Kauppi, Jukka Uitti, Markku Huvinen and Anna-Kaisa Viitanen for their untiring encouragement and wise advice during writing the original articles. I wish also to thank Ritva Luukkonen for her guidance in statistical analyses. I also want to thank Paula Jussheikki for her help at the Outokumpu stainless steel factory site and her contribution to particle measurements.

I wish to thank Site Manager Mika Mettalo from Nammo Lapua Oy for giving me the opportunity to take time off from my work when finishing the thesis.

Warm and sincere thanks to all the supportive and warmhearted former and current collagues. I'm glad that I have always been able to work with the best co-workers!

I dedicate my dearest thanks to my parents Hanna-Liisa and Erkki and my sister Minna and her family, my grandmother Laura for their love and support. I wish to thank my mother-in-law Maire and father-in-law Timo for nursing our daughters when needed during this work.

Finally, the deepest gratitude belongs to my loved ones, my husband Mika and our daughters, Siiri and Iida, for giving me such happiness and reminding me of what life is really for.

Kuopio, June 2018 Merja Järvelä

# CONTENTS

1 INTRODUCTION	21
2 LITERATURE REVIEW	23
2.1 Occupational exposure to particles	23
2.1.1 Exposure routes	23
2.1.2 Exposure measurements	24
2.1.3 Occupational exposure limit values (OELs)	
2.2 Particle exposure in metal industry	
2.2.1 Particle exposure in welding	
2.2.2 Particle exposure in ferrochromium and stainless steel product	ion31
2.3 Health effects associated with particle exposure in welding and stain	ess
steel industry	
2.3.1 Oxidative stress and inflammation	
2.3.2 Pulmonary effects	40
2.3.3 Cardiovascular effects	41
2.3.4 Cancer	41
3 AIMS OF THE STUDY	43
4 MATERIALS AND METHODS	45
4 1 Occupational exposure in welding shops	45
4 2 Welding inhalation challenge tests	46
4.3 Occupational exposure in ferrochromium and stainless steel producti	on 47
4 4 Inflammation markers in ferrochromium and stainless steel workers	48
4.5 Statistical analyses	
	40
5 RESULTS	49
5.1 Exposure to particles in welding shops	
5.2 Particle exposure in welding challenge tests	
5.3 Exposure to particles in terrochromium and stainless steel production	151
5.4 Inflammation effects caused by exposure to metal particles	
5.4.1 Systemic inflammation and pulmonary effects after weiding fur	ne
exposure	
5.4.2 Inflammation markers in terrochromium and stainless steel wo	rkers 59
6 DISCUSSION	61
6.1 Occupational exposure to metal particles	61
6.2 Hematological and systemic inflammation markers	64
6.2.1 Welding	64
6.2.2 Ferrochromium and stainless steel production	65
6.3 Lung function and pulmonary inflammation markers	66
6.3.1 Welding	66

6.3.2 Ferrochromium and stainless steel production	67
7 CONCLUSIONS	. 69
REFERENCES	.71
APPENDICES	.81

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

BAL	Bronchoalveolar lavage
BLV	Biological limit value
CPC	Condensation particle counter
Cr <sup>3+</sup>	Trivalent chromium
Cr <sup>6+</sup>	Hexavalent chromium
CRP	C-reactive protein
DMA	Differential mobility analyzer
EBC	Exhaled breath condensate
EDX	Energy dispersive X-ray analysis
EELS	Electron energy loss signal
EIA	Enzyme immunoassay
ELPI	Electrical low pressure impactor
eNO	Exhaled nitric oxide
ENPs	Engineered nanoparticles
FCAW	Flux cored arc welding
FEV <sub>1</sub>	Forced expiratory volume in 1 second
FIOH	Finnish Institute of Occupational Health
GMAW	Gas metal arc welding
HRV	Heart rate variability
HWE	Healthy worker effect
IARC	International Agency for Research on Cancer
IL-1β	Interleukin 1 beta
IL-6	Interleukin 6
IL-8	Interleukin 8
IOM	Institute of Occupational Medicine
IHD	Ischemic heart disease
LTB4	Leukotriene B4
MFF	Metal fume fever
MMAW	Manual metal arc welding
MS	Mild steel
NIOSH	National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health
NO	Nitric oxide
OA	Occupational asthma
OEL	Occupational limit value
·ОН	Hydroxyl radical
OPC	Optical particle counter
OSHA	Occupational Safety and Health Administration, United States

PEF	Peak expiratory flow
PM <sub>2.5</sub>	Particulate matter smaller than 2.5 $\mu m$
PPE	Personal protection equipment
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RSW	Resistance spot welding
SIMS	Secondary-ion mass spectrometry
SMPS	Scanning mobility particle sizer
SS	Stainless steel
TEM	Transmission electron microscopy
TIG	Tungsten inert gas welding
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
TWA	Time weighted average
UFP	Ultrafine particles

## LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on data presented in the following articles, referred to by the Roman numerals I–IV.

- I Järvelä M, Kauppi P, Tuomi T, Luukkonen R, Lindholm H, Nieminen R, Moilanen E, Hannu T. Inflammatory response to acute exposure to welding fumes during the working day. *Int J Occup Med Environ Health* 26: 220-229, 2013.
- II Kauppi P, Järvelä M, Tuomi T, Luukkonen R, Lindholm T, Nieminen R, Moilanen E, Hannu T. Systemic inflammatory responses following welding inhalation challenge test. *Toxicology Reports* 2: 357-364, 2015.
- III Järvelä M, Huvinen M, Viitanen AK, Kanerva T, Vanhala E, Uitti J, Koivisto AJ, Junttila S, Luukkonen R, Tuomi T. Characterization of particle exposure in ferrochromium and stainless steel production. J Occup Environ Hyg 13: 558-568, 2016.
- IV Uitti J, Huvinen M, Kanervo A, Järvelä M, Oksa P, Lehtimäki L, Toivio P, Tuomi T, Moilanen E, Sauni R. Pulmonary inflammation markers in workers exposed to metal dusts and fumes in ferrochromium and stainless steel production. *Submitted 2018*.

The original publications have been included at the end of this thesis with the permission of the copyright holders.

# AUTHOR'S CONTRIBUTION

The publications in this dissertation are original research papers investigating the exposure of workers to particles and short-term health effects in metal industry.

Studies with welders in workplace and laboratory challenge experiments (Papers I and II): The author designed and conducted the particle measurements. She gathered and processed both exposure and clinical measurement data. She wrote manuscript I and participated in writing manuscript II with significant editorial input from all of the co-authors.

Exposure and clinical study among stainless steel production workers (Papers III and IV): The author participated in developing the study design and conducted the particle exposure measurements with the help of Outokumpu Stainless Ltd's occupational hygienists. She collected and processed the exposure data and conducted the personal particle exposure evaluation. Manuscript III was mainly written by the author. She also participated in the writing of manuscript IV.

## **1 INTRODUCTION**

Airborne dust and particles can be described as aerosols. The term, "aerosol" refers to a suspension of liquid or solid particles in gaseous media, usually in air. The particle size-ranges of aerosols can vary from about 1 nm to more than 100  $\mu$ m.

Particles are present everywhere; in ambient air as well as in indoor environments (e.g. homes, schools, offices and industrial facilities). Particles are formed via condensation or by mechanical or chemical processes. It is known that exposure to ambient air particles causes adverse health effects (Seaton et al. 1995). Exposure to airborne fine particles (PM<sub>2.5</sub>) is associated with an increased risk of mortality (Dominici et al. 2003) and cardiovascular and pulmonary hospitalizations (Bravo et al. 2016, Lanzinger et al. 2016, Dominici et al. 2006).

In workplace conditions, particle concentrations can be much higher than ambient air levels. Atmospheric aerosol mass concentrations are about 20-200  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> depending on the air pollution level, whereas mass concentrations in polluted industrial environments can reach several milligrams per cubic meter (Kulkarni et al. 2012). However, the association between occupational particle exposure and adverse acute health effects is less evident in comparison to research results obtained from ambient air studies. This may be due to the healthy worker effect (HWE) which refers to the most sensitive and symptomatic individuals opting out of jobs where occupational exposure occurs. An HWE causes better health status of workers relative to the general population.

In the metal industry, workers are exposed to fumes and dusts which contain different sizes of particles; coarse particles (diameter 2.5-10 µm) as well as ultrafine particles (UFP) with diameters smaller than 100 nm. Particles are generated in high temperature processes e.g. in smelting, rolling and welding, as well as in mechanical operations such as cutting and grinding. Metal processing and welding produces aerosols containing metal oxides originating from materials and techniques used in metal alloy production or welding. Metal particles are reported to cause hazardous effects on workers' health and their toxicity may depend on the oxidation state of the metal. For example, both trivalent (Cr<sup>3+</sup>) and hexavalent (Cr<sup>6+</sup>) chromium have been shown to exist in workplace air during the manufacture of stainless steel (SS) (Huvinen et al. 1993) and in SS welding operations (Perch et al. 2015, Matczak & Chmielnicka 1993). The mechanisms underpinning the increased health risks attributable to metal particle exposure are not clear, but recent studies suggest that inflammation mediators are associated with many of the health outcomes, e.g. lung illness (Suri et al. 2016) or changes in cardiac autonomic dysfunction indices (Umukoro et al. 2016, Ohlson et al. 2010).

In this thesis, occupational exposure to particles and the acute effects on health in welding, and in ferrochromium and stainless steel production were investigated. The aim was to study short-term inflammatory systemic and pulmonary effects in workplace conditions as well as in a controlled exposure study with welders with suspected occupational asthma. The clinical study was accomplished by analyzing selected blood inflammation markers and conducting lung function measurements before and after metal particle exposure.

## **2 LITERATURE REVIEW**

## 2.1 OCCUPATIONAL EXPOSURE TO PARTICLES

### 2.1.1 Exposure routes

Inhalation is the most relevant route for occupational exposure to particles. After gaining access to the body via either nose or mouth breathing, inhaled particles deposit in the extrathoracic (nasal, pharyngeal, laryngeal), tracheobronchial and alveolar regions of the respiratory tract (Figure 1). The regional deposition efficiency depends mostly on the particle size and shape as well as the effective density. Ultrafine particles are effectively deposited in all respiratory tract regions due to their high diffusion properties whereas larger particles remain in the upper airways (ICRP 1994, Oberdörster et al. 2005).



Figure 1. Predicted fractional deposition of inhaled particles in the nasopharyngeal, tracheobronchial, and alveolar region of the human respiratory tract during nose breathing. (Reproduced from Oberdörster et al. (2005). Copyright Environmental Health Perspectives).

Furthermore, particle exposure may occur via either the gastrointestinal (GI) tract or the skin. Particles initially inhaled and then cleared by mucociliary movement, can be swallowed and gain access to the GI tract. There is growing concern that ingested particles increase the risk of toxicity and carcinogenicity to the internal organs (Kim et al. 2014). Dermal exposure and particle penetration through the epidermal barrier have been topics of interest for the last decade since manufacturing and use of engineered nanoparticles (ENPs) have expanded considerably. In particular, the safety of cosmetic products containing ENPs (e.g. sunscreens) has been a cause of concern (McSweeney 2016). According to our current knowledge, the significance of particle exposure via the dermal route is less important than that of inhalation exposure even for the smallest, nanosized particles (Landsiedel el al. 2012). However, there is evidence that the penetration of nano-sized metal oxide particles can become elevated through injured and atopic skin (Ilves et al. 2014).

The respiratory system can clear deposited solid particles by physical and chemial processes. Physical clearance mechanisms include mucociliary movement, macrophage phagocytosis and epithelial endocytosis. Chemical clearance processes can clear biosoluble particle components via dissolution, leaching and protein binding (Oberdörster et al. 2005).

Deposited particles can be translocated to secondary organs via the lymphatic and blood circulation and sensory neurons (Balasubramanian et al. 2013). There are some studies indicating that nanosized metal particles deposited in the olfactory region of the nose can migrate to the brain along the olfactory nerve (Hopkins et al. 2014, Balasubramanian et al. 2013, Oberdörster et al. 2004). Apart from nervous system translocation, inhalation studies with animal experiments have revealed particle translocation to cardiovascular and digestive systems as well as to internal organs like spleen, kidneys and liver (Balasubramanian et al. 2013). However, at the moment, the biological significance of particle translocation via the nervous, cardiovascular or digestive routes is far from clear.

#### 2.1.2 Exposure measurements

Particle measurements are needed to quantify and qualify occupational exposure and to monitor emissions from different indutrial processes. Workplace risk assessment and compliance with regulations can be based on exposure measurement data. European standard EN 481 defines sampling protocols for three particle size fractions according to their deposition properties: inhalable, thoracic and respirable fractions (European Standardization Committee 1993) (Figure 2). Thus, measurements conducted with instruments in accordance with the standard will ensure the best association between concentrations and impacts on human health.



Figure 2. Particle fraction conventions as percentages of total airborne particles according to EN 481 Standard (European Standardization Committee 1993).

Mass concentration is the most commonly measured parameter when assessing particle exposure. Mass concentration refers to the particle mass in a unit volume of air, typically represented in mg/m<sup>3</sup> or  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> (Hinds 2012). Number concentration, i.e. particles/cm<sup>3</sup>, is another common way to express particle concentration in both ambient and workplace air. Furthermore, particle size distributions and chemical composition have been exploited to characterize particle exposure. Particles can be chemically homogeneous or they can contain a variety of elements and chemical compounds (Kulkarni et al. 2011) and furthermore they can vary in their primary shape, ranging from equidimensional to fibres and plates or other irregular forms as well as existing as singlets, aggregates and their agglomerates. The most common particle measurement techniques used in occupational environments are described briefly below and listed in Table 1.

When evaluating workers' exposure to particles, measurements are generally conducted using filter sampling methods; these tend to measure size-selective mass concentrations, such as respirable and inhalable dust or total suspended particulate matter. This is due to the fact that filter sampling allows personal exposure assessment, and that health-based occupational exposure limit values (OELs) to workplace dusts are defined in mass concentrations. Particles are collected on filters using a size-selective sampling head, e.g., a cyclone, connected to a pump that controls the volume sampling rate. The filter materials used in occupational exposure measurements are typically glass or quartz fibers and cellulose nitrate or acetate membranes. Sampled particles can be analyzed gravimetrically and chemically, and individual particles can be analyzed with different forms of electron microscopy and spectroscopy to examine particle size, structure and shape (Kulkarni & Baron 2011). There are two common electron imaging methods 1) transmission electron microscopy (TEM) and 2) scanning electron microscopy (SEM). TEM is suitable for imaging particles smaller than 0.5 mm in diameter since the image is formed by electrons that pass through the sample. The image is observed on a phosphor screen, typically at magnifications ranging from 1000 to about 1 000 000 times. With SEM, the particle sample can be observed at magnifications from 10 times up to about 100 000 times. SEM uses a focused electron beam that is rastered over the sample area. The beam's position is combined with the detected signal to form an image that is recorded digitally (Fletcher et al. 2011). Furthermore, individual particles can be analyzed using energy dispersive X-ray analysis (EDX) to obtain information about the elemental composition of the particles. In addition, there are other in situ identification analyses available, for example, electron energy loss signal (EELS) and secondary-ion mass spectrometry (SIMS).

Optical particle measurement techniques are widely used in occupational dust measurements. An optical particle counter (OPC) measures the size and number concentration of particles and the technique is based on the light scattering attributable to single particles. First, a stream of aerosol is drawn through a light beam. Next, the light scattered from the single particles is detected by a photodetector and converted into electrical pulses. Particle number is determined by counting the pulses of scattered light reaching the detector and the particle size is derived from the height of the electrical pulses (Sorensen et al. 2011). The particle mass concentration cannot be accurately assessed by a number measurement due to the different density of particles with diverse compositions. There are commercially available particle measurement instruments based on optical detection e.g. DustTrak<sup>™</sup> models 8530 and 8532, Optical Particle Sizer model 3330 (TSI Incorporation, USA) and Aerosol spectrometer 11-A (Grimm Aerosol Technik, Germany). SidePak<sup>™</sup> (TSI Inc., USA) is an OPC that is suitable for personal particle mass measurement. In addition, real-time aerodynamic measurements of particles from 0.5 to 20 µm can be measured with TSI Aerodynamic Particle Sizer 3321 (APS<sup>TM</sup> spectrometer).

Particles smaller than 0.1  $\mu$ m that are optically difficult to measure, can be measured by either growing the particles after their condensation or by measuring the mobility of the particles in an electric field. The operating theory behind condensation particle counters (CPCs) is based on the supersaturation of condensing fluid (water or alcohol) to enlarge particles by condensation of vapors to a size that can be detected optically (Cheng 2011). CPCs' detection limits vary depending on the instrument, ranging from 2.5 to 10 nm, and they can measure particles up to 3  $\mu$ m. The particle size distribution is obtained using a differential mobility analyzer (DMA) in parallel with CPC. Commercial instruments for particle number size distribution measurements are TSI's SMPS 3938 (scanning mobility particle sizer) and Grimm's SMPS+C.

Cascade impactors are also used for measuring particle number concentrations and number size distributions. The measurement principle is based on the particle's inertia, which is used in the classification of particles. The electrical low pressure impactor (ELPI; Dekati Ltd., Finland) is one type of cascade impartors where particles are first charged in a unipolar diffusion charger and then classified according to their size in a cascade impactor and finally the collected particles are measured electrically (Järvinen et al. 2014, Keskinen et al. 1992). ELPI is suitable for stationary sampling, but also personal samplers based on inertial sizing are available (Marple & Olson 2011). For example, the Sioutas Cascade Impactor (SKC Inc., USA) and the Marple Personal Cascade Impactor (Thermo Scientific, USA) are commercially available personal cascade impactors.

Measurement method	Instrument	Real time (R), off-line (O), particle mass (M), particle number (N)	Personal (P) / stationery (S) sampling	Cut point D₅₀ / size range
Filter sampling; mass concentration	IOM-sampler, IOM with MultiDust foam discs, Total dust-sampler, SKC Respirable Cyclone	O, M	P, S	IOM: D₅₀ 100 µm, with MultiDust 4 µm SKC Respirable
particle characterization	Electrostatic precipitator + TEM/EDX	0		Cyclone: D₅₀ 4 µm
Optical detection	OPC	R, M, N	S	0.1 – 30 µm
Condensation, optical detection	CPC	R, N	S	2.5 nm – 3 µm
Electrical mobility	SMPS	R, N	S	1 nm – 1 µm
Inertial classification	ELPI	R, N	S	6 nm – 10 µm

Table 1. Instruments used for measuring occupational particle exposure.

TEM/EDX = Transmission electron microscopy/energy dispersive X-ray analysis; OPC = optical particle counter; CPC = condensation particle counter; SMPS = scanning mobility particle sizer; ELPI = electrical low pressure impactor

#### 2.1.3 Occupational exposure limit values (OELs)

In Finland, the health-based occupational exposure limit value for the 8-hour time weighted average (TWA) concentration of inorganic dust is 10 mg/m<sup>3</sup> (Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, Finland 2016). An OEL is provided for inhalable dust as defined in EN 481 (European Standardization Committee 1993). OELs and reference values as 8-hour TWA in different countries for inhalable and respirable fractions and for some metal components in the respirable fraction are presented in Table 2.

The Finnish OEL for trivalent chromium ( $Cr^{3+}$ ) is 0.5 mg/m<sup>3</sup>; for hexavalent chromium ( $Cr^{6+}$ ), it is 0.005 mg/m<sup>3</sup>. The exposure limit value for  $Cr^{6+}$  is the same in Sweden and USA (IFA 2016). Workers' exposure to  $Cr^{6+}$  can also be determined by measuring the chromium content of their urine samples. The biological limit value (BLV) for  $Cr^{6+}$  is 0.2 µmol/l in Finland (Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, Finland 2016).

Furthermore, Finnish OELs for iron and zinc in fumes are 5 mg/m<sup>3</sup> and 2 mg/m<sup>3</sup>, respectively (Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, Finland 2016). Values are in concordance with OELs of other European countries, where the limit values for iron in fumes or in respirable dust vary from 3.5 to 6 mg/m<sup>3</sup> and for zinc from 2.0 to 5 mg/m<sup>3</sup> (IFA 2016). Finland and Germany have both an OEL value of 0.02 mg/m<sup>3</sup> for manganese in the respirable dust fraction (Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, Finland 2016, IFA 2016).

Table 2. Occupational exposure limit values in different countries for inhalable and respirable particle fractions and for some metals.

Country	Fraction, dust/component	8 h-TWA, mg/m³	15 min TWA, mg/m³	Reference
Finland	Inhalable, inorganic dust	10	-	Ministry of Social
	Inhalable, organic dust	5	10	Finland 2016
	Inhalable, trivalent chromium	0.5	-	
	Inhalable, hexavalent chromium	0.005	-	
Austria	Inhalable dust	10	20	IFA 2016
	Respirable dust	5	10	
	Inhalable, copper	1	-	
Belgium	Inhalable dust	10	-	IFA 2016
	Respirable dust	3	-	
France	Inhalable dust	10	-	INRS 2016
	Respirable dust	5	-	
Germany	Inhalable dust	4	-	DFG 2012b
	Respirable, insoluble particulates	0.3 <sup>2</sup>	2.4	DFG 2012a
	Respirable aerosol, manganese	0.02	0.16	DFG 2012b
Sweden	Inhalable, inorganic dust	10	-	AFS 2015:7
	Respirable, inorganic dust	5	-	
	Total aerosol, hexavalent Cr	0.005	-	
USA	Inhalable dust	15	-	OSHA 2018
(0304)	Respirable dust	5	-	
16 an altreate a state	Inhalable, hexavalent chromium	0.005	-	

<sup>1</sup>for dusts with a density of 1 g/cm<sup>3</sup>

### 2.2 PARTICLE EXPOSURE IN METAL INDUSTRY

In Finland, there are about 110 000 workers employed in the metal processing industry as well as in the manufacturing of metal products and transport equipments (Statistics Finland 2012). The metal processing industry comprises smelting and refining processes of metal ores and scrap metal to obtain pure metals. In addition, fabrication processes include sintering, casting, hot and cold forging and cutting operations. The metal working industries processes metals in order to manufacture machine components and machinery as well as a variety of instruments and tools for different sectors of the economy (ILO 2016).

#### 2.2.1 Particle exposure in welding

Welding is a process in which metal pieces are joined together; it is a widely used technique in the metal working industy. Welding processes can be divided into different categories, with the two most ubiquitous being arc and gas welding techniques. The most common types of arc welding processes are 1) manual metal arc welding (MMAW; also called shielded metal arc welding, SMAW), 2) gas metal arc welding (GMAW) 3) tungsten inert gas welding (TIG) and 4) flux cored arc welding (FCAW) (Antonini 2003). About 6 900 welders (including gas cutting workers) are employed in Finland (Statistics Finland 2014), and it is estimated that there are at least 2 000 000 welders worldwide (NIOSH 1998).

Welders work in different environments outdoors and indoors in open or confined spaces, in high construction sites, sometimes even underwater. Welding is often conducted in conditions with poor ventilation such as ship hulls, metal tanks, or narrow pipes leading to a greater potential for exposure. Welding fumes are complex mixtures of gases and particles consisting of metal oxides, silicates and fluorides. Aerosols are formed primarily through the nucleation of metal vapors followed by condensation and coagulation processes. The composition of the fumes is variable according to which metals and coatings (e.g. zinc and other metal coatings, oil films and paints) are being used. In addition, the type of the rod and stick influences the formed fume content and exposure levels (Palmer & Eaton 2003, Wallace et al. 2001, Zimmer & Biswas 2001). The most common metal components in welding fumes include chromium, nickel, iron, manganese, zinc and silica. Fumes generated from mild steel (MS) electrodes contain usually more than 80 % iron and manganese 1-15 % but no chromium or nickel. Stainless steel (SS) welding fumes consists of approximately 20 % chromium and 10 % nickel in addition to iron and manganese (Antonini at al. 2004). In addition to the fumes, welding produces gaseous byproducts such as carbon dioxide, carbon monoxide, nitrogen oxides and ozone. The physical hazards of welding include ultraviolet and infrared radiation, heat, noise and vibration (Antonini 2003).

Workers are often exposed to particles which have been formed nearby, i.e. in cutting, grinding and drilling operations, and welding is not the only source of particle exposure. For this reason, in many cases, particle concentration values measured in real workplace conditions contain particles from other sources in addition to those produced during welding. Nevertheless, welding can generate very high fume concentrations; these can be as high as several hundred mg/m<sup>3</sup> just above the arc (Ulfvarson 1981). The recent study of Cena et al. (2016) reported that the average mass concentration in a welding fume near to the arc was 45 mg/m<sup>3</sup> which declined to 9 mg/m<sup>3</sup> at two meter distance from the source. The typical worker's breathing zone concentration range from 1 to 5 mg/m<sup>3</sup> depending the welding methods and materials used, ventilation and the volume of the space where the welding was being performed (Antonini et al. 2004, Buonanno et al. 2011). In addition, repeated exposure studies have shown that exposure variations in an individual welder can be high (Hedmer et al. 2014). For example, workers' individual work practices can influence exposure levels between welders.

In the study of Elihn and Berg (2009), the particle number concentrations measured in metal plants where MIG, MAG and spot welding were being operated ranged from 30 to  $100 \times 10^3$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. The measured peak concentration was  $267 \times 10^3$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. Buonanno et al. (2011) detected a high particle concentration ( $800 \times 10^3$  cm<sup>-3</sup>) in a welding shop where a general ventilation system was lacking.

The particle number size distribution of welding fumes is typically bi- or multimodal (Moroni & Viti 2009, Zimmer & Bisvas 2001), although a unimodal number size distribution has also been reported in a workplace study of Elihn et al. (2011). The welding technique can influence the size of the aerosols generated during welding. Zimmer and Biswas (2001) observed that GMAW generated smaller individual particles than FGAW. They also noticed that as the sample height increased, the modes of the multi-modal distributions shifted towards larger particle sizes. Measurements in workplace conditions have revealed that the welding fume particles in the breathing zone are 0.5-2.0 µm in aerodynamic diameter (Hedmer et al. 2014, Moroni & Viti 2009, Antonini et al. 2004), although also smaller particles have been reported to predominate. Elihn et al. (2011) reported a mean particle size in the range 0.2-0.5 µm in a manufacturing plant undertaking welding and laser cutting of steel. According to Antonini (2006) and Dasch & D'Arcy (2008), ultrafine particles mass account for 5-10 % of welding fume particles. However, Elihn and Berg (2009) observed a much higher UFP fraction in welding operations: 26-59 % of all particles measured with SMPS were in the ultrafine size range. Table 3 provides a list of workers' particle exposure levels measured in welding shops.

#### 2.2.2 Particle exposure in ferrochromium and stainless steel production

Stainless steel manufacturing comprises several stages starting from the mining of the ore, proceeding to pelletizing and sintering processes, and after that, to steel melting, casting and grinding phases and finally to hot and cold rolling, where SS strips are formed. The process is described in more detail in Paper III and in Huvinen 2002. Stainless steel is widely used in many applications of industry, construction and infrastructure. In homes, SS can be found in cooking utensils due to its safe, durable and easy-to-care properties.

Occupational particle exposure data from workers manufacturing SS is much more limited as compared to welding. In particular, there is virtually no data on steel workers' exposure to particle number concentrations. For example, in a Finnish study, SS workers' personal exposure to total particle mass concentrations was 1.5 mg/m<sup>3</sup> in a ferrochromium smelter, 1.8 mg/m<sup>3</sup> in a stainless steel melting shop and 0.3–0.5 mg/m<sup>3</sup> in cold rolling (Huvinen et al. 1993). Johnsen and her colleagues (2008) studied dust exposure in smelters among two different production groups: 1) ferrosilicon and 2) other ferroalloys (ferrochrome, silicomanganese and ferromanganese) smelters. They reported that in group 2 smelters, the average total dust exposure was 2.4, 2.0 and 11.6 mg/m<sup>3</sup> in the furnace house, electrode and sintering plant, respectively.

Workplace and settings	Methods	Mass concentration, mg/m³	Particle number concentration, cm <sup>-3</sup>	Workplace conditions and use of respiratory protection	Reference
24 welders in a welding school, MMAW, TIG welding, and laser cutting, grinding operations	Personal exposure to $PM_{2.5}$	Median 1.69			Kim et al. 2005
26 boilermakers, MMAW welding	Personal exposure to $PM_{2.5}$	Median 8h TWA 0.39 (range 0.03-2.62)		Local exhaust ventilation	Fang et al. 2010
16 workers at two mechanical workshops: plant A) welding and laser cutting, plant B) welding and grinding	Personal exposure measurements with 25 mm open-face cassette and filter	Plant A) AM 1.1 Plant B) AM 0.49		Few subjects used respiratory protection. Plant A: Bad general ventilation in welding area, local exhaust ventilation in laser cutting. Plant B: Good general ventilation	Ohlson et al. 2010
241 stainless steel welders, different welding techniques	Personal exposure measurements. Inhalable particles: German sampler GSP 3.5; respirable particles: PGP-EA sampler	Median exposure to respirable particles: GMAW 1.64; FCAW 6.87; TIG <0.42; MMAW <0.50 Median exposure to inhatable particles: GMAW 2.71; FCAW 6.24; TIG <0.58; MMAW 0.82		Local exhaust ventilation in all companies. Of the participants, 11 % used powered air purifying respirators, 20 % dust masks, and 69 % did not use respiratory protection	Weiss et al. 2013
101 welders from 10 medium size companies producing e.g. heavy vehicles, lifting tables, stoves, heating boilers and pumps	Personal exposure measurements with 37 mm cassette with respirable dust cyclone	Median exposure 1.1			Li et al. 2015

Table 3. Occupational exposure to welding fumes. Different welding methods, materials and measurement instrumentation and protocols were used in the studies.

Workplace and settings	Methods	Mass concentration, mg/m³	Particle number concentration, cm <sup>-</sup> ³	Workplace conditions and use of respiratory protection	Reference
108 welders in 11 medium sized companies operating mild steel welding	Personal exposure measurements to respirable dust with 37 mm cassette and filter	AM: 2.3 (range 0.1- 38.3)		General ventilation in all companies. Some of the participants used respiratory protection, but measurements were conducted outside.	Hedmer et al. 2014
45 male boilermakers, mainly MMAG and GMAW	Personal PM <sub>2.5</sub> concentrations using DustTrak Aerosol Monitor, TSI	Mean PM <sub>2.5</sub> 0.35 (range 0.01-2.96)			Umukoro et al. 2016
241 welders, 25 companies (5 shipyards, 13 manufacturers of containers and vessels, 4 manufacturers of machines and tools), different welding techniques	Personal exposure measurements. Inhalable particles: German sampler GSP 3.5; respirable particles: PGP-EA sampler Static measurements of particle number concentrations: SMPS, TSI Inc.	Median exposure to inhalable particles: GMAW 3.65; FCAW 8.02; TIG <0.58 Median exposure to respirable particles: GMAW 2.08; FCAW 7.11; TIG <0.42	GMAW 127 × 10 <sup>3</sup> ; FCAW 122 × 10 <sup>3</sup> ; TIG 151 × 10 <sup>3</sup>	Local exhaust ventilation in all companies. Of the participants, 11 % used powered air purifying respirators, 20 % dust masks, and 69 % did not use respiratory protection	Lehnert et al. 2012
Three automotive plants, RSW, MIG and TIG welding of aluminum and steel	Static PM2.6 mass and particle number concentrations	The highest PM <sub>2.6</sub> in MIG welding of aluminum 0.25 and in RSW steel welding 0.25	RSW aluminum welding: mean 72 × 10 <sup>3</sup> , max. 130 × 10 <sup>3</sup> RSW steel welding: mean 67 × 10 <sup>3</sup> , max. 170 × 10 <sup>3</sup>	Recirculating general ventilation, local exhaust ventilation in steel and aluminum MIG/TIG welding locations	Dasch & D'Arcy 2008
Two mechanical workshops: plant A) MIG and MAG welding and laser cutting, plant B) spot welding and grinding	Static particle mass sampling with MOUDI, MSP Corp. and calculation of PM10 from the MOUDI data; particle number sampling with P-Trak, TSI Inc.	Plant A) PM10: 1.00 Plant B) PM10: 0.4	Plant A) 69 × 10³ Plant B) 33 × 10³	Plant A: Bad general ventilation in welding area, local exhaust ventilation in laser cutting. Plant B: Good general ventilation	Elihn & Berg 2009

Table 3. Continued.

Two mechanical workshops: plant A) welding and laser cutting, plant B) welding and grinding	Static sampling with SMPS, TSI Inc.	Plant A) AM 1.29. Plant B) AM 0.61.	Plant A) 78 × 10 <sup>3</sup> Plant B) 64 × 10 <sup>3</sup>	Plant A: Bad general ventilation in welding area, local exhaust ventilation in laser cutting. Plant B: Good general ventilation	Elihn et al. 2011
Three automotive plants, different welding techniques.	Static sampling with CPC 3775 and 3781, TSI Inc.		Plant A) Mean concentration in GMAW: 96 × 10 <sup>3</sup> , max. conc. 800 × 10 <sup>3</sup> Plant B) max. conc. 200 × 10 <sup>3</sup> Plant C) max. conc., 200 × 10 <sup>3</sup>	Plant A: Lack of general ventilation system in In some welding locations, local exhaust ventilation assembled Plant B: Local exhaust and general ventilation general ventilation	Buonanno et al. 2011
Mechanical engineering factory, TIG welding	Static measurements of inhalable, thoracic and respirable fractions with Grimm 1.109 Aerosol Spectrometer, UFP measurements with Grimm portable NanoCheck 1.320, total particle number measurements with ELPI, Dekati Ltd.	Inhalable particles: AM 0.34. Thoracic particles: AM 0.22. Respirable particles: AM 0.11.	UFP: 38 × 10³ Total particles: 64 × 10³	Local exhaust ventilation	lavicoli et al. 2013
UFP= ultrafine particles; PM2.	<sub>5</sub> = particulate matter smaller than 2.5 μm; AM =	= arithmetic mean			

### 2.3 HEALTH EFFECTS ASSOCIATED WITH PARTICLE EXPOSURE IN WELDING AND STAINLESS STEEL INDUSTRY

Particle size, chemical composition, and particle concentration are the primary health outcome determinants associated with particle exposure. However, the underlying mechanisms responsible for the adverse health outcomes are not precisely known. It has been suggested that even short-term exposure to metal particles can induce systemic inflammation which may display an association with lung function changes and chronic pulmonary diseases (Sobaszek et al. 2000, Fireman et al. 2008) or cardiovascular diseases (Sjögren et al. 2002, Fang et al. 2010). The current understanding of the mechanisms and health effects following particle exposure in welding and in stainless steel production will be described in the following paragraphs.

### 2.3.1 Oxidative stress and inflammation

#### Reactive oxygen species, cytokines and exhaled nitric oxide

Inflammation is involved in most of the adverse health effects associated with particle exposure in metal workers. Fumes and aerosols containing metals can induce local inflammation in lung tissue; at the biochemical level, they evoke lipid peroxidation in cell membranes and oxidative damage to the genome (Taylor et al. 2003, Antonini et al. 2005, Leonard at al. 2010). Free radical activity and oxidative stress following generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) are postulated to have a role in mediating many health effects. Free radicals are species that contain one or more unpaired electrons (Bayr 2005). ROS can be either harmful or beneficial to living organisms. The harmful effects include damage to cellular lipids, proteins, or DNA, leading to an inhibition of their normal function (Valko et al. 2007). The negative effects of ROS have been associated with several diseases, such as asthma (Henricks & Nijkamp 2001), cardiovascular disease (Watson et al. 2008), cancer (Valko et al. 2006) and diabetes (Houstis et al. 2006). On the other hand, at physiological concentrations, ROS are important biological signaling molecules that induce therapeutic and protective effects against diseases (Valko et al. 2007).

Cytokines are low-molecular-weight proteins that regulate the intensity and duration of the immune response and inflammation. Cytokines can be either 1) proinflammatory and act to make a disease worse at the same time while strengthening the body's defense response or 2) anti-inflammatory to reduce inflammation and promote healing (Dinarello 2000). Proinflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin (IL)-1 $\beta$ , IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$ , are produced mainly by activated macrophages. Selected inflammation markers, which are relevant to this study, and their role in inflammation are listed in Table 4.

Nitric oxide (NO) is a gaseous mediator that regulates many physiological processes including immune responses and inflammation. Exhaled NO (eNO) can be reliably and non-invasively measured as a way of assessing lung inflammation
(Kharitonov & Barnes 2006). Several studies have confirmed that the concentration of eNO is elevated in the airways of patients with asthma (Alving et al. 1993, Kharitonov et al. 1994).

Cytokine/ inflammation marker	Description and function	Reference
8-isoprostane	Marker of oxidative stress formed by free-radical-catalyzed lipid peroxidation of arachidonic acid and cell membrane phospholipids.	Morrow & Roberts 1996
Adiponectin	Hormone of adipocyte origin that is involved in the control of circulating glucose and involved in regulating glucose and lipid levels.	Lee & Shao 2014
Adipsin	An enzyme that is secreted by adipocytes into the bloodstream and is involved in the suppression of infection.	Cook et al. 1987
CRP	C-reactive protein, synthesized by the liver. The CRP levels is largely regulated by circulating levels of IL-6. The concentration of CRP in serum is increased in response to inflammation.	Ridker 2016
E-selectin	An endothelial adhesion molecule that is rapidly induced by inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 and TNF- $\alpha$ .	Kansas 1996
ET-1	Endothelin-1 is a peptide of 21 amino acids produced by the endothelial cells of arteries. ET-1 has a strong arterial tightening (vasoconstrictor) function. It also induces mitosis in cells.	Davenport et al. 2016
IL-1β	Interleukin 1 beta, a proinflammatory cytokine, important member of IL-1 superfamily. IL-1 $\beta$ is made mainly by macrophages and monocytes but also by nonimmune cells, such as fibroblasts and endothelial cells. IL-1 $\beta$ helps lymphocytes fight infections. It also helps leukocytes pass through blood vessel walls to sites of infection and causes fever by affecting areas of the brain that control body temperature.	Arango Duque & Descoteaux 2014
IL-6	Interleukin 6 is a proinflammatory cytokine, and an important mediator of the acute inflammatory response. IL-6 is secreted mainly by monocytes/macrophages, and T and B cells. IL-6 can induce maturation of megakaryocytes, resulting in an increase in platelets.	Kishimoto et al. 1992
IL-8	Interleukin-8 is synthesized in liver and in lung epithelial cells. IL-8 attracts and activates neutrophils in inflammatory regions.	Bickel 1993
LTB4	Leukotriene B4 is a proinflammatory lipid mediator synthesized in myeloid cells from arachidonic acid. LTB4 induces recruitment and activation of neutrophils, monocytes and eosinophils, and stimulates the production of proinflammatory cytokines and mediators.	Crooks & Stockley 1998
ROS	Free radicals, products of cellular metabolism, that may also be chemicals or particles-induced. ROS defend cells against infectious agents and participate in cellular signaling systems. Overproduction of ROS causes oxidative stress, which may damage DNA, RNA, and proteins, and cause cell death. Types of ROS: superoxide (·O2-), hydrogen peroxide (H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> ), hydroxyl radical (·OH), hydroxyl ion (OH <sup>-</sup> ).	Valko et al. 2007
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha, a proinflammatory cytokine. Important mediator of the acute inflammatory response. TNF- $\alpha$ stimulates the release of IL-6 and IL-8, and recruitment of neutrophils and monocytes to infection sites. TNF- $\alpha$ is an inducer of endothelial adhesion molecules.	Beutler 1999

Table 4. Selected cytokines and inflammation markers and their function.

#### Inflammation associated with exposure to metal particles

Local and systemic inflammation is a putative mediator of the adverse health outcomes associated with metal particle exposure. Changes in inflammation markers have been investigated and found both *in vitro* (Pascal & Tessier 2004, Leonard et al. 2010) and *in vivo* (Taylor et al. 2003, Dierschke et al. 2017).

Oxidative stress may be an intermediate step linking the exposure to welding fumes with adverse health outcomes (Li et al. 2004, Han et al. 2005). The *in vitro* exposure study of Leonard et al. (2010) observed intense free radical generation in cells exposed to SS and MS fumes collected one hour prior to exposure. Hydroxyl radical (·OH) generation was much lower when cells were exposed to aged fumes i.e. fumes that had been collected one day or one week before exposure. The study showed that both SS and MS welding fumes were able to generate ROS and ROS-related damage. However, SS fumes had a significantly higher capacity to generate hydroxyl radicals than an equal mass of mild steel fumes (Leonard et al. 2010).

Graczyk et al. (2016) conducted a human exposure study where twenty nonsmoking subjects were exposed to TIG welding fumes for 60 minutes. They reported significant increases in oxidative stress biomarkers in urine and plasma samples after three hours of exposure. They also observed that when the exposure to the particle number concentration increased, the level of one oxidative stress biomarker (plasma-8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine) increased. The study group concluded that additional exposure metrics such as particle number concentration should be recommended for occupational risk assessment in addition to mass measurements (Graczyk et al. 2016).

In a human exposure study conducted by Hartman et al. (2014), inhalation of fumes from MIG brazing of zinc-coated steel caused a significant increase in the levels of high-sensitivity CRP inducing a slight systemic inflammation reaction. Similarly, Markert et al. (2016) exposed healthy male subjects on one day to zinc containing welding fumes, on one day to copper containing welding fumes, and on one day to both zinc and copper containing welding fumes. The concentration of blood CRP was analysed directly after the exposure tests as well as 24 hours thereafter. They found that exposure to zinc as well as copper containing welding fumes were able to increase the CRP level 24 hours after the exposure and there was evidence of asymptomatic inflammation in the exposed subjects. Both zinc and copper containing welding fumes resulted in the same effect (Markert et al. 2016).

In the welding workplace study of Ohlson et al. (2010), blood inflammation markers (IL-6, CRP, fibrinogen) were measured before and after the first work shift after the summer holidays. In addition, two samples were taken after the shift on the following days. It was reported that the levels of IL-6 increased by over 50 % after the first work shift. In contrast, the CRP level did not increase after the first work shift but there was a 17 % elevation after the second shift (Ohlson et al. 2010). In the welding fume exposure study of Baumann et al. (2016), blood IL-6 and CRP levels increased after the 6-hour exposures. The IL-6 level peaked at 10 hours after the exposure while highest CRP levels were measured 29 hours after the fume exposure.

However, contradictory results of welding fume exposure and IL-6 and CRP concentrations have also been reported (Palmer et al, 2006, Scharrer et al. 2007).

#### 2.3.2 Pulmonary effects

The pulmonary health effects of welding fume exposure have been studied and reviewed extensively (Sferlazza & Beckett 1991, Martin et al. 1997, Antonini 2003, Antonini et al. 2003, Antonini et al. 2004, Cosgrove 2015). Metal fume fever (MFF) is the most frequent acute respiratory outcome encountered in welders (Antonini 2003). MFF is an influenza-like reaction consisting of fever, chills, dyspnea, headache, myalgia and malaise (Mueller & Seger 1985, Nemery 1990, Kaye et al. 2002, Rehman 2013). Other features include cough, thirst, a metallic taste, salivation, and a neutrophil leukocytosis. The illness is most commonly induced by inhalation of zinc oxide fumes from galvanised (zink coated) steel or brass welding (Gordon & Fine 1993, Barceloux 1999, Kaye et al. 2002).

Early experiments conducted a few decades ago have detected a small acute decline in lung function during welding work (Akbar-Khanzadeh 1993, Keimig et al. 1983), although that effect has not been observed in all studies (Akesson & Skerfving 1985). In longitudinal studies of welders, a decline in lung function has been observed (Chinn et al. 1990, Wolf et al. 1997), and this effect was also found in nonsmoking welders (Hjortberg et al. 1992, Meo et al. 2003). Furthermore, several studies have indicated that welders have an increased risk of developing several respiratory diseases, such as rhinitis (Castano & Suarthana 2014), bronchitis (Sferlazza & Beckett 1991, Contreras & Chan-Yeaung 1997, Bradshaw et al. 1998, Erkinjuntti-Pekkanen et al. 1999, Lillienberg et al. 2008), and asthma (Wang et al. 1994). In addition, pneumococcal pneumonia (Coggon et al. 1994, Palmer at al. 2009, Wong et al. 2010) has been reported among welders, but the mechanism for this association is not totally understood. A recent in vitro study suggested that pneumonia would in part be mediated by the capacity of welding fumes to increase platelet-activating factor receptor dependent pneumococcal adhesion and infection of lower airway cells (Suri et al. 2016). In England, the Department of Health has recommended that welders should receive a single dose of the pneumococcal vaccine to prevent pneumonia (Palmer & Cosgove 2012). In addition to many respiratory diseases, there is growing evidence that there is an association between steel welding fume exposure and fibrosis (Cosgrove 2015).

The increased risk of welders to develop asthma has been described in population based studies (Karjalainen et al. 2002, Storaas et. al 2015) as well as in epidemiological settings (Wang et al. 1994, Beach et al. 1996) and in case studies. The case studies have indicated that occupational asthma (OA) would be related principally to SS welding (Keskinen et al. 1980, Hannu et al. 2005, Hannu et al. 2007), although OA following MS welding has also been reported (Vandenplas et al. 1995).

Furthermore, there is evidence that welding of other metals, such as aluminium, can also cause OA (Vandenplas et al. 1998).

Long-term respiratory health effects have not been observed in previous studies investigating Finnish ferrochromium and stainless steel production (Huvinen et al. 1996, Huvinen et al. 2002). An American longitudinal study showed that pulmonary function in steelworkers, as measured by FEV<sub>1</sub>, decreased over the working years but particle exposure did not alone explain the FEV<sub>1</sub> decline. A history of allergy, trauma and pneumonia as well as aging and weight gain were reported to contribute to the decline in the workers' lung function values (Banks et al. 1999).

### 2.3.3 Cardiovascular effects

The term cardiovascular refers to the heart and blood circulation. Blood inflammation markers have been discussed mainly in paragraph 2.3.1. Welders have an increased risk of morbidity and mortality from ischemic heart disease (IHD) (Moulin et al. 1993, Hilt et al. 1999, Sjögren et al. 2002). An increased cardiovascular mortality has also been reported among stainless steel production workers (Cappeletti et al. 2016), although the evidence is not as consistent as among welders. An epidemiologic study of Finnish ferrochromium and stainless steel workers' cause-specific mortality revealed that mortality from diseases of the circulatory system, in particular from IHD, was significantly decreased compared to population mortality rates of the same region (Huvinen & Pukkala 2016).

Oxidative stress has been implicated as one of the possible mechanisms for the cardiovascular effects of particle exposure since this kind of stress can induce endothelial dysfunction and systemic inflammation (Utell et al. 2002, Lee et al. 2014). An association has been observed between short-term occupational particle exposure and the effect on endothelial cell activation and function in circulation in welders (Fang et al. 2010). Heart rate variability (HRV) is a marker of autonomic nervous system and adverse cardiovascular effects; HRV measures the variation of beat to beat intervals (Tsuji et al. 1996). A reduction in HRV has been associated with particle exposure in metal workplaces as well as in environmental settings (Magari et al. 2001, Cavallari et al. 2008, Fang et al. 2009, Han et al. 2016).

#### 2.3.4 Cancer

The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) has categorized welding fumes into group 2B (possibly carcinogenic to humans) in 1990 (IARC 1990). However, a re-evaluation of the carcinogenicity of welding fumes is in progress and the results of the assessment will be published later in volume 118 of the IARC Monographs. According to preliminary information, welding fumes will classified into category Group 1 (carcinogen) (Guha et al. 2017).

Hexavalent chromium ( $Cr^{6+}$ ) is categorized in group 1 (carcinogenic to humans) (IARC 2012) and trivalent chromium ( $Cr^{3+}$ ) in group 3 (not classifiable as to its carcinogenicity to humans) (IARC 1990). Both welders and stainless steel production workers are exposed to  $Cr^{6+}$ .

Epidemiological studies have revealed an association between welding and an increased risk of lung cancer (Moulin 1997, Kendzia et al. 2013, Matrat et al. 2016). Matrat and her colleagues (2016) identified a clear dose–response relationship between welding and lung cancer. There are results indicating that gas welding is more harmful than arc welding, and the risk of lung cancer increases when the workpiece is covered by paint, grease or other substances. Previously, also 't Mannetje et al. (2012) found a stronger association between the risk of lung cancer and gas welding than for arc welding. The study of Sorensen et al. (2007) reported a relationship between lung cancer and SS welding but not MS welding. Positive associations were observed in all three studies (Matrat 2016, 't Mannetje et al. 2012, Sorensen et al. 2007) after adjusting the results for smoking and combined exposure to asbestos.

There is some evidence that welding of MS can also increase the cancer risk (Hansen et al. 1996, Ambroise et al. 2006). In a Canadian study, the lung cancer risk was not linked to the welding method but was associated with smoking habits (Vallières et al. 2012). Interestingly, the group of Vallières observed an increased lung cancer risk among light smokers but not among heavy smokers.

Few studies have investigated the mortality attributable to cancer and cancer incidence among stainless steel workers but there do not seem to be any consistent relationships between occupational exposure and cancer (Axelsson et al. 1980, Långård et al. 1980, Moulin et al. 1990, Moulin et al. 2000). Huvinen & Pukkala (2013) reported that as compared to the population of the same region, the overall cancer incidence among Finnish ferrochomium and stainless steel workers was not elevated and in fact, the lung cancer risk was decreased by about 20 %.

## 3 AIMS OF THE STUDY

The aims of this study were

- 1) to measure occupational exposure to particles and acute pulmonary and systemic health effects in two large metal construction plants where arc welding and sheet metal working of MS were being undertaken (Paper I),
- 2) to determine the inflammatory responses following welding inhalation tests in subjects with suspected occupational asthma (Paper II),
- 3) to assess workers' particle exposure during the ferrochromium and stainless steel production chain in terms of particle mass and number concentrations (Paper III), and
- 4) to study the association between stainless steel workers' particle exposure and levels of systemic and pulmonary inflammation markers (Paper IV).

## **4 MATERIALS AND METHODS**

## 4.1 OCCUPATIONAL EXPOSURE IN WELDING SHOPS

The first part of the study (Paper I), a workplace survey among MS welders, was carried out in two large metal plants located in southwest Finland. Altogether, twenty workers from a shipyard company and an offshore construction company were recruited to participate in the study. Metal inert gas (MIG), metal active gas (MAG), and flux cored arc (FCAW) welding processes were being carried out in the plants. Five of the subjects used modern fresh air face shields during the exposure measurements. Particle measurements were conducted during the work shift. Inhalable dust samples were collected from the workers' breathing zones using an IOM (Institute of Occupational Medicine) sampler. The sampling time varied from one to three hours, representing the average total exposure by workers while performing a particular task. Dust samples were analyzed gravimetrically according to the Finnish standard (SFS, 1988).

Venous blood samples were taken before and at the end of the work shift. The concentrations of IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-8, tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), soluble endothelin-1 (ET-1), and E-selectin in plasma samples were determined by enzyme immunoassay (EIA), using commercial reagents. In addition, platelet count, leukocytes and their differential count, hemoglobin, hematocrit, levels of sensitive C-reactive protein (CRP), lipids, glucose as well the levels of fibrinogen were analyzed using established methods.

Baseline peak expiratory flow (PEF) and measurements of forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV<sub>1</sub>) and the exhaled nitric oxide (eNO) level were assessed before the work shift and approximately 24 hours after baseline measurements using a portable pocket-sized spirometer and an inert plastic bag, respectively. Figure 3 shows the procedure of clinical tests during the workplace study.



Fig. 3. Study protocol of clinical tests during the workplace study.

## 4.2 WELDING INHALATION CHALLENGE TESTS

The welding challenge tests (Paper II) in patients with suspected occupational asthma were performed in the special welding chamber at FIOH, Helsinki. The exposure challenge test protocol has been described earlier by Hannu et al. (2007). Fifteen subjects were exposed to mild steel (MS) (control test) and stainless steel (SS) welding fumes on consecutive days. One subject was exposed only to MS welding fumes. The manual metal arc welding (MMAW) exposure time was 30 minutes. During the exposure, five rods were consumed in the MS control test and 11 rods in the SS welding test. Inhalable particle mass measurements were performed during the tests using an IOM sampler. The samples were analyzed gravimetrically. Particle number size distributions from 30 nm to 10  $\mu$ m were measured with ELPI during exposure tests of three subjects.

Study participants were monitored for 24 hours after each challenge. Altogether, five venous blood samples (one blood sample before each of the challenge tests and one blood sample after each of the challenge tests with the fifth sample on the next day after the tests) were taken from each of the subjects (see Fig. 4). The concentrations of IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-8, TNF- $\alpha$ , endothelin-1, and E-selectin in the plasma samples were determined by EIA using commercial reagents. Platelet count, leukocytes and their differential count, hemoglobin, haematocrit, concentrations of sensitive CRP, lipids, glucose, and levels of fibrinogen were analyzed using

established methods. Baseline measurements of PEF, FEV<sub>1</sub>, and eNO were performed before MS exposure, and approximately 22 h after the MS and SS exposure. Figure 4 shows the procedure of clinical tests during the inhalation challenge study.



Fig. 4. Study protocol of clinical tests during inhalation challenges.

# 4.3 OCCUPATIONAL EXPOSURE IN FERROCHROMIUM AND STAINLESS STEEL PRODUCTION

This study (Paper III) was conducted in an integrated ferrochromium and stainless steel plant in Northern Finland. Personal exposure to inhalable dust was measured with an IOM sampler from the breathing zones of 23 workers. The average sampling time was 6.5 hours. Dust samples were analyzed gravimetrically according to the Finnish standard (SFS, 1988).

Particle mass area sampling was carried out in a total of 40 sites around the mill. Inhalable and total dust measurements were performed concurrently with an IOM sampler and a Millipore 37 mm cassette and filter.

Total particle number concentrations from 10 to 1000 nm were measured with hand-held CPC in 24 locations. Total particle number concentrations and size distributions were measured using Grimm SMPS+C with long DMA to obtain a size range from 11 to 1083 nm. The measurement cycle was 208 seconds. Sampling was performed in 17 locations, where sampling times varied according to the process operation from 1.8 to 17 hours. The longest measurements were conducted in control rooms during the night shifts. Particle size distributions were determined from

SMPS+C measurement data by averaging the entire measurement period. Measured particle concentrations were assumed to represent the workers' exposure in the process site.

# 4.4 INFLAMMATION MARKERS IN FERROCHROMIUM AND STAINLESS STEEL WORKERS

A cross-sectional study (Paper IV) was conducted in an integrated ferrochromium and stainless steel plant in Northern Finland. Altogether 333 workers participated in the study. Participants were divided into three exposure groups 1) Cr<sup>6+</sup> (n=84), 2) Cr<sup>3+</sup> (n=146), and 3) control group (n=103) according to data on their occupational exposure to these chromium species obtained from earlier measurements conducted on site. The Cr<sup>6+</sup> group consisted of steel melting shop workers, the Cr<sup>3+</sup> group of ferrochromium workers (sintering and crushing) and controls were cold rolling mill workers. For each worker, a personal daily exposure assessment was calculated based on the exposure data collected over the years by the occupational hygienist of the steel plant and the particle mass and number measurement results reported in Paper III. Exposure data was linked to the data for the time spent in the process area and in the control rooms retrieved from the workplace surveys conducted by occupational health professionals.

Respiratory health was examined by questionnaire and spirometry. Exhaled NO concentration, and levels of inflammatory markers in exhaled breath condensate (EBC) (8-isoprostane and leukotriene B4; LTB4) and in serum samples (adiponectins, adipsins, IL-6, IL-8, and CRP) were analysed.

## 4.5 STATISTICAL ANALYSES

In study I, all response variables were continuous but not all were normally distributed. Therefore one-sample Wilcoxon test was applied when comparing clinical data measured before and after the work shift.

In study II, inflammatory response variables were continuous and mostly normally distributed. Data before and after a challenge test was compared using the paired t-test. The Wilcoxon one sample test was used if the variable was nonnormally distributed.

In study IV, the means of the variables in exposed and non-exposed group were compared using the t-test or ANOVA in the comparison of the three groups with respect to their chromium exposure. The association of inflammatory markers with particle exposure was analysed in all subjects together. The association of exposure to different dust concentration was assessed by applying linear regression analysis.

In studies I, II and IV, statistical significance was met when p < 0.05. Studies I and II analyses were performed using the Statistical Analysis System, SAS Version 9.1. In study IV, statistical analyses were performed using the SPSS 15.0 software package.

## **5 RESULTS**

## 5.1 EXPOSURE TO PARTICLES IN WELDING SHOPS

The workers' 8-hour weighed average exposure to inhalable particles in two large welding shops (Paper I) was 9.4 mg/m<sup>3</sup> (Table 5). The job title was welder in 35 % of the study subjects and sheet metal worker in the rest. Welders' exposures, as measured in the breathing zone, was clearly higher than the sheet metal workers exposure. However, five out of seven welders were wearing fresh air respirators and thus the exposure levels in those workers is overestimated. None of the sheet metal workers were using fresh air or other kinds of respiratory protection on the study day.

Job title	Ν	Inhalable particle mass, average [mg/m³]	Min	Мах	SD
Welder	7	18	4.0	35	13
Sheet metal worker	13	4.6	1.5	9.2	2.1
All workers	20	9.4	1.5	35	10

Table 5. Workers exposure to particles by job title in welding shops measured with IOM sampler.

Manual inert gas/active gas (MIG/MAG) welding generated higher particle exposure as compared to manual metal arc (MMA) welding (Table 6). Five of the welders and two of the sheet metal workers operated MIG or MAG welding during the exposure study. Two welders and eight sheet metal workers were using the MMA welding technique. Three of the study subjects did not provide information about the welding method they had used during the exposure measurements. The exposure data subdivided according to the welding technique being used is presented in Table 6.

Table 6. Workers' exposure to particles by welding technique in welding shops measured with the IOM sampler.

Welding method	N	Inhalable particle mass, average [mg/m³]	Min	Мах	SD
MMA	10	8.2	2.9	34	9.3
MIG/MAG	7	14	3.5	35	12

## **5.2 PARTICLE EXPOSURE IN WELDING CHALLENGE TESTS**

This chapter presents the results of the particle exposure measurements conducted during a 30-min welding challenge test in 14 patients with suspected occupational asthma (Paper II). The average particle mass exposure was higher in SS welding test as compared to MS welding, 40.2 and 31.6 mg/m<sup>3</sup>, respectively. Significant variation in particle exposure between the study subjects was observed among MS and SS welding groups (Table 7). The calculated 8-hour weighted average exposure was 50 % lower than the Finnish OEL (5 mg/m<sup>3</sup>) for inorganic dust in SS and 40 % in MS welding. OEL was exceeded in one SS welding test, where the 8-hour weighted exposure was 6.3 mg/m<sup>3</sup> (data not shown).

Table 7. Study subjects' average exposure to inhalable particles (mg/m<sup>3</sup>) measured with IOM sampler during controlled MS and SS welding challenge tests.

Challenge test	N	Particle mass, measured	Range	SD	Particle mass, 8-hour weighted
MS	14	31.6	12.7-79.4	16.5	1.98
SS	14	40.2	15.9-100	19.8	2.51

Particle number concentration and size distribution were measured in MS exposure tests in two subjects and SS exposure tests using ELPI in three others. The total particle number concentration varied from  $1.68 \times 10^6$  to  $1.88 \times 10^6$  cm<sup>-3</sup> in MS and from  $1.76 \times 10^6$  to  $3.18 \times 10^6$  cm<sup>-3</sup> in SS welding tests. SS welding generated a higher particle concentration, presumably due to the higher number of rods (11 rods) consumed in the 30-minute tests compared to MS (5 rods). The particle size distribution was rather similar in all five welding challenge tests (Figure 5). Particle size distribution was unimodal, with the mode being around 430 nm in all exposures.



Figure 5. Particle number size distribution in two MS and three SS welding challenge tests.

# 5.3 EXPOSURE TO PARTICLES IN FERROCHROMIUM AND STAINLESS STEEL PRODUCTION

In this chapter, particle mass and number measurement results of ferrochromium and stainless steel production phases are presented (Papers III and IV). The workers' personal particle exposure was at its highest in the sintering plant and in the stainless steel melting shop, and at its lowest at the end of the production chain in the cold rolling mill. The highest geometric mean exposure (1.95 mg/m<sup>3</sup>) was measured in the stainless steel melting shop. The personal dust exposure ranged from 0.80 to 5.70 mg/m<sup>3</sup> (Table 8).

Process area	N	GM (GSD)	Percent 5 %	ile (GM) 95 %	Range
Sintering plant	3	1.86 (1.12)	1.31	2.61	1.60-2.10
Ferrochromium smelting	4	1.27 (1.54)	0.57	2.84	0.70-2.40
Stainless steel melting	11	1.95 (1.82)	1.28	2.98	0.80-5.70
Hot rolling mill	2	0.22 (2.24)	N/A	N/A	0.10-0.50
Cold rolling mill	3	0.14 (1.68)	0.03	0.70	0.10-0.30

Table 8. Workers' personal particle exposure (mg/m<sup>3</sup>) in ferrochromium and SS production phases measured with IOM.

GM: geometric mean; GSD: geometric standard distribution; N/A: not available due to the small number of measurements

Generally, particle number concentrations were higher at the beginning of the production chain. The average total particle number concentrations in the production areas measured with SMPS+C and CPC3007 varied from  $58 \times 10^3$  to  $662 \times 10^3$  cm<sup>-3</sup> and from  $25 \times 10^3$  to  $295 \times 10^3$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, respectively (Table 9). The SMPS+C results were consistently higher than the CPC3007. The same distinction between the instruments has been reported previously (Asbach et al. 2012, Leskinen et al. 2012). Nevertheless, in all measurement locations, the CPC3007 results followed the same trend as SMPS+C, although the measurements were not conducted at the same time.

The highest particle number concentrations were measured in the ferrochromium smelter, where the average concentration in three SMPS+C measurements was  $662 \times 10^3$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. In the cold rolling process, particle number concentrations were an order of magnitude lower than in the previous process phases. The total particle number concentration obtained with SMPS+C ranged from  $9.8 \times 10^3$  to  $332 \times 10^3$  cm<sup>-3</sup> (Table 9).

Particle number concentrations were lower in the control rooms than in the production areas during all the phases. However, in the control room of the sintering plant, the particle number concentration was considerably higher as compared to the other control rooms studied. The average total particle number concentration measured with SMPS+C was 243 × 10<sup>3</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>, which was one order of magnitude higher than the levels in the other control rooms studied, and only roughly half of the process room concentration. The same result was achieved using CPC3007.

Location and instrument	N	N <sub>tot</sub>	sdN <sub>tot</sub>	N <sub>tot</sub> range
Sintering plant				
SMPS+C				
Production area	2	529 000	53 400	383 000-670 000
Control room	1	243 000	28 300	170 000-316 000
CPC3007				
Production area	2	201 000	16 100	85 200-281 000
Control room	2	96 900	10 200	39 600-132 000
Ferrochromium smelter				
SMPS+C				
Production area	3	662 000	321 000	101 000-2 740 000
Control room	1	24 200	14 700	6 200-124 000
CPC3007				
Production area	1	139 000	39 000	84 800-360 000
Control room	2*	50 500	29 900	9 800-299 000
Stainless steel melting shop				
SMPS+C				
Production area	4	450 000	306 000	70 400-2 480 000
Control room	1	25 000	10 600	8 610-43 700
CPC3007				
Production area	5	180 000	59 100	6 000-556 000
Control room	6	6 970	2 060	1 070-294 000
Hot rolling mill				
SMPS+C				
Production area	2	528 000	93 500	84 600-1 340 000
Control room	0	N/A	N/A	N/A
CPC3007				
Production area	1	295 000	73 200	193 000-492 000
Control room	2	5 090	1 640	1 000-13 000
Cold rolling mill				
SMPS+C				
Production area	3	57 700	36 100	9 770-332 000
Control room	0	N/A	N/A	N/A
CPC3007				
Production area	2	25 300	9 030	10 200-139 000
Control room	1	7 590	2 120	3 590-14 900

Table 9. Particle number concentrations (cm<sup>-3</sup>) in ferrochromium and SS production phases measured with SMPS+C and CPC3007.

N/A: not available; \*not comparable to the other control rooms measured

The mode of the particle number distribution was below the measuring range of SMPS+C (10 nm) in the sintering, ferrochromium smelting and stainless steel melting processes. In the hot and cold rolling mills, the first mode was below 10 nm and the middle point of the second mode was in the size range of 20-40 nm (Fig 6d-e). Similarly, the mode of the particle number distribution was below the measuring

range in the control rooms of the ferrochromium smelter and stainless steel melting shops (Fig. 6f). The particle distribution in the sintering plant control room was multimodal (Fig. 6f solid line).



Figure 6. Averaged particle number concentrations in stainless steel production phases. Distributions have been determined by averaging the individual distributions over the whole measurement period. The Y-axis is different in A-F.

Stainless steel workers' daily personal particle mass and number exposure were calculated according to the measurement data and time spent in the process area (Paper IV). The evaluated exposure in three study groups ( $Cr^{3+}$ ,  $Cr^{6+}$ , control group) is presented in Table 10. Irrespective of the measurement method, the highest evaluated mass concentration was present in the  $Cr^{6+}$  group. However, the particle number concentration was higher in the  $Cr^{3+}$  group as compared to  $Cr^{6+}$  group.

Mossurement metrics unit instrument	Cr³⁺ group n=84	Cr <sup>6+</sup> group n=146	Control group n=103
measurement metrics, unit, instrument	median	median	median
	(Q <sub>25</sub> -Q <sub>75</sub> )	(Q <sub>25</sub> -Q <sub>75</sub> )	(Q <sub>25</sub> -Q <sub>75</sub> )
Inhalable mass,	0.13	0.56	0.04
mg/m <sup>3</sup> ; Grimm dust monitor*	(0.03-0.60)	(0.38-1.1)	(0.02-0.07)
Thoracic mass,	0.10	0.31	0.04
mg/m <sup>3</sup> ; Grimm dust monitor*	(0.03-0.30)	(0.23-0.55)	(0.02-0.05)
Alveolic mass,	0.05	0.10	0.02
mg/m <sup>3</sup> ; Grimm dust monitor*	(0.02-0.11)	(0.08-0.17)	(0.01-0.03)
Inhalable dust,	0.24	0.63	0.05
mg/m <sup>3</sup> ; IOM	(0.17-0.43)	(0.31-0.96)	(0.05-0.05)
Total dust,	0.18	0.36	0.05
mg/m <sup>3</sup> ; Millipore 37mm	(0.14-0.37)	(0.29-0.73)	(0.05-0.20)
Particle number conc.,	103 000	80 000	23 000
cm <sup>3-</sup> ; CPC3007	(39 000-149 000)	(30 000-296 000)	(NA)
Total dust**,	0.28	0.40	0.12
mg/m <sup>3</sup> ; Millipore 37mm	(0.14-0.81)	(0.25-0.57)	(0.10-0.20)

Table 10. Evaluated personal particle exposure in study groups.

\*Gravimetric factor 1 was used; \*\*Earlier measurements in stainless steel plant; NA: not analyzed

# 5.4 INFLAMMATION EFFECTS CAUSED BY EXPOSURE TO METAL PARTICLES

This chapter presents the main inflammation and pulmonary results from Papers I and II (section 5.4.1) and from Paper IV (section 5.4.2).

## 5.4.1 Systemic inflammation and pulmonary effects after welding fume exposure

Welding fume exposure induced a significant decrease in the hemoglobin level and in the number of erythrocytes in the workplace study subjects and in welding exposure challenge participants after MS and SS exposure (Table 11); in contrast, the number of leukocytes and neutrophils increased significantly in both study groups. In addition, the number of platelets increased after both welding challenge test.

With respect to the systemic immune parameters, the concentration of IL-1 $\beta$  and soluble E-selectin decreased significantly during the working day. A decrease in the E-selectin level was also observed among welding challenge test participants, but only after MS exposure test.

The baseline level of eNO was elevated (>30 ppb) in three workplace study subjects and in five welding challenge test participants (data not shown). No statistically significant changes were found after the work shift nor between the welding exposure tests (Table 11). However, the eNO concentration increased by over 30 % in five exposure study participants after the MS exposure test, and in two participants after the SS exposure test as compared to the baseline level measured before the first exposure.

With respect to the lung function tests, there were no statistically significant FEV<sub>1</sub> or PEF changes (Table 12) and no asthmatic responses after the work shift, compared to the results before the work shift. Among welding challenge participants, there were slight reductions in the FEV<sub>1</sub> and PEF values after both MS and SS tests. Only FEV<sub>1</sub> decrease after MS exposure was not statistically significant.

	Workplace	exposure		Welding ch	allenge tests						
Darmotor	-	-		Day 1	)		Da	ly 2		Day 3	
	Before work shift	After work shift	d	Before MS	After MS	٩	Before SS	After SS	٩	Day after SS	*d
Hemoglobin, g/l	159±10	152±11	<0.01	157±13	154±12	0.02	158±12	155±12	0.02	157±11	
Leukocytes, 10 <sup>9</sup> cells l <sup>-1</sup>	8.6±2.3	10±2.7	0.01	6.5±1.2	7.4±1.5	<0.01	6.7±1.0	7.8±1.6	<0.01	6.7±0.9	
Neutrophils, 10 <sup>9</sup> cells l <sup>-1</sup>	5.0±1.9	6.1±2.2	0.04	3.7±1.2	4.4±1.3	<0.01	3.8±0.9	<b>4.8</b> ±1.4	<0.01	3.9±1.0	
Lymphocytes, 10 <sup>9</sup> cells I <sup>-1</sup>	2.7±0.80	2.9±0.90		2.2±0.66	2.2±0.45		2.3±0.6	2.3±0.5		2.1±0.64	
Eosinophils, 10 <sup>9</sup> cells l <sup>-1</sup>	0.32±0.21	0.27±0.16		0.20±0.09	0.16±0.09	0.01	0.25±0.09	0.20±0.09	0.02	0.23±0.11	0.03
Erythrocytes, 10 <sup>12</sup> cells I <sup>-1</sup>	5.1±0.30	4.9±0.30	<0.01	5.0±0.38	4.9±0.34	0.01	5.0±0.34	4.9±0.31	<0.01	4.9±0.32	
Monocytes, $10^9$ cells I <sup>-1</sup>	0.49±0.14	0.56±0.19	0.04	0.40±0.11	0.51±0.15	0.01	0.38±0.08	0.56±0.20	<0.01	0.37±0.13	
Basophils, 10 <sup>9</sup> cells I <sup>-1</sup>	0.10±0.04	0.09±0.04		0.03±0.05	0.06±0.05		0.04±0.05	0.06±0.05		0.04±0.05	
Platelet count, 10 <sup>9</sup> cells I <sup>-1</sup>	284±76	279±77		273±63	291±62	<0.01	282±57	293 ±60	<0.01	278±52	
Sensitive CRP	2.0±3.5	2.0±3.9		1.5±2.2	1.5±2.2		1.6±2.2	1.6±2.1		1.5±2.2	
P-fibrinogen, g/l	3.4±1.1	3.3±1.1		3.4±0.98	3.1±0.93		3.4±0.91	3.5±1.1		3.6±1.01	
IL-1β, pg/ml	0.49±0.30	0.29±0.14	0.01	0.57±0.43	0.45±0.30		0.65±0.86	0.65±0.76		0.46±0.30	
IL-6, pg/ml	3.6±2.3	4.1±2.4		2.7±1.6	2.5±1.6		2.5±1.4	2.4±1.1		2.6±1.4	
IL-8, pg/ml	5.9±3.6	4.4±1.5		7.7±2.8	7.2±3.6		8.3±4.8	7.4±2.7		7.4±3.3	
TNF-α, pg/ml	1.3±0.50	1.1±0.40		2.0±0.68	2.0±0.83		2.1±1.1	1.8±0.53		1.8±0.6	
Endothelin -1, pg/ml	1.2±0.96	1.2±0.61		0.92±0.23	0.86±0.22		0.87±0.21	0.88±0.35		0.90±0.26	
E-selectin, ng/ml	60±23	58±23	0.03	49±21	46±19	0.04	47±19	47±20		46±20	
*comparison of blood test 5 on	n day 3, and of	f blood test 1 o	in day 1								

. .

Table 11. Hematological and inflammatory parameters before and after exposure to welding fumes.

on day \_ E SI noola 5 alla °. day 5 n E S 5 comparison

	eNO, ppb	р	FEV <sub>1</sub> , I	р	PEF, l/min	р
Workplace exposure study						
Before work shift	20.0±12.5		3.90±0.70		578±67	
After work shift	19.4±14.8	0.21	3.90±0.70	0.12	581±64	0.88
Welding challenge tests						
Before exposure tests	25±22		3.74±0.47		566±92	
After MS exposure	25±24		3.65±0.46	0.03	543±79	0.02
After SS exposure	28±27		3.59±0.48	0.26	529±87	0.02

Table 12. Exhaled nitric oxide and lung function parameters before and after exposure to welding fumes.

### 5.4.2 Inflammation markers in ferrochromium and stainless steel workers

Differences of inflammation marker levels between Cr<sup>3+</sup>, Cr<sup>6+</sup> and control study groups are presented in Table 13 and in Table 14. The p-values indicate whether there are significant differences between the Cr-study groups and the control group.

With respect to the systemic immune parameters, the concentration IL-8 was significantly higher in the Cr<sup>3+</sup> group than in the control group. However, the CRP level tended to be higher in the control group than in the Cr-exposed groups but these differences were not statistically significant.

Inflammation marker	Cr³⁺ group	Cr <sup>6+</sup> group	Control group	p-value
IL-6, pg/ml				
mean (sd)	5.7 (6.7)	4.6 (4.6)	5.3 (4.8)	0.077
range	0.20-41	0.3-24	1.0-28	
IL-8, pg/ml				
mean (sd)	10 (9.7)	8.9 (3.8)	7.9 (2.9)	0.001
range	3.3-92	2.5-42	2.7-17	
Adiponectin, µg/ml				
mean (sd)	2.0 (0.80)	2.2 (0.85)	2.2 (0.83)	0.300
range	0.90-6.1	0.90-6.0	0.70-4.7	
Adipsin, µg/ml				
mean (sd)	899 (180)	917 (165)	933 (167)	0.473
range	457-1350	352-1360	571-1450	
CRP, μg/ml				
mean (sd)	1.5 (1.4)	1.6 (2.2)	1.9 (2.3)	0.056
range	0.20-8.2	0.20-14	0.20-15	

Table 13. Blood inflammation markers in study groups.

With respect to the pulmonary inflammation markers, the level of 8-isoprostane in EBC was significantly higher in the Cr<sup>6+</sup> group as compared to the Cr<sup>3+</sup> and control groups. In addition, the concentrations of eNO and alveolar eNO were higher in the

 $Cr^{3+}$  group than in the other study groups, although the differences in the eNO level were not statistically significant (p<0,05).

Inflammation marker	Cr³⁺ group	Cr <sup>6+</sup> group	Control group	p-value
8-isoprostane, pg/ml				
mean (sd)	16.1 (12)	17.9 (12)	14 (9.9)	0.008
range	0.4-52	0.24-72	0.02-63	
LTB4, pg/ml				
mean (sd)	17 (9.3)	18 (8.9)	18 (10)	0.827
range	2.0-44	3.0-45	3.3-45	
eNO, ppb				
mean (sd)	19 (21)	16 (9.8)	17 (13)	0.960
range	(3.0-137)	3.8-56	2.7-84	
eNO, alveolar, ppb				
mean (sd)	2.1 (0.64)	1.9 (0.66)	1.9 (0.58)	0.039
range	0.65-3.4	0.40-5.2	0.65-3.8	
eNO, bronchial, ppb				
mean (sd)	0.63 (0.54)	0.66 (0.45)	0.71 (0.61)	0.644
range	0.01-3.8	0.07-2.3	0.04-4.0	

Table 14. Exhaled nitric oxide concentrations and pulmonary inflammation markers in exhaled breath condensate in study groups.

## **6 DISCUSSION**

## 6.1 OCCUPATIONAL EXPOSURE TO METAL PARTICLES

The particle mass concentrations of welding fume particles were clearly higher among welders as compared to those of sheet metal workers. The average mass concentrations were 18 and 4.6 mg/m<sup>3</sup>, which are 180 % and 46 % of Finnish OEL for inorganic dust (10 mg/m<sup>3</sup>), respectively. The results are in line with earlier publications (Cena et al. 2016, Antonini 2003). However, sheet metal workers' actual exposure may be greater than that of welders' because of the difference in the use of respiratory protection while they are working. The sheet metal workers did not use respiratory protection while welders wore efficient fresh air respiratory protection. Extensive variations in exposure within the workers in both occupation groups in the workplace study are likely due to different working postures and the distance from the arc (Cena et al. 2016). Work tasks, techniques, ventilation, and working practices can also explain the non-uniform exposures in these workers (Rappaport et al. 1999, Liu et al. 2011). It should be stressed that extensive variation does not necessarily mean unacceptable working conditions, instead it can be an indication of a workplace where health protection actions have succeeded in minimizing exposures (Wambach 2002). MIG/MAG welders' average particle exposure (14 mg/m<sup>3</sup>) was 59 % higher than MMA welders' exposure (8.2 mg/m<sup>3</sup>). Both workplaces that participated in the study had good general ventilation and several local exhaust ventilation units in use. However, some of the welders had to work in confined spaces, where local exhaust could not be applied, and the measured exposure reached the Finnish OEL for inorganic dust.

Particle exposure in the welding challenge test varied between the study subjects although the study protocol, ventilation and welding technique and materials were identical. During the test, some participants were bent over very close to the object being welded, and therefore their breathing zone particle concentrations were higher than those participants who kept a longer working distance to the object being welded. The average 30-min particle mass concentration in MS and SS exposures were 32 mg/m<sup>3</sup> and 40 mg/m<sup>3</sup>, respectively. High particle exposures can occur in workplace conditions, for example Hedmer and her colleagues (2014) reported maximun workplace exposure to welding fumes of 38 mg/m<sup>3</sup>. Although welding fume exposure was high in this study, the calculated 8-hour weighted average exposure remained 50 % lower than the Finnish OEL for inorganic dust.

The particle number size distribution was very similar in all welding challenge tests. Most of the particles were smaller than 1  $\mu$ m, and the number mode was around 0.4  $\mu$ m. This kind of particle distribution is in line with those measured in workplace conditions (Elihn et al. 2011). SS welding generated a higher total particle concentration (variation from 1.76 × 10<sup>6</sup> to 3.18 × 10<sup>6</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>) compared to MS welding (from 1.68 × 10<sup>6</sup> to 1.88 × 10<sup>6</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>), presumably due to the difference in the welding

test protocols. In the SS exposure tests, a higher number of rods were consumed than in the MS tests. The welding test protocol is standardized and is applied when investigating whether welders are suffering from occupational asthma in Finland (Hannu et al. 2007), and it was not changed in this study.

In stainless steel production, the exposure to inhalable dust was highest at the beginning of the production chain in the sintering, ferrochromium smelter and stainless steel melting shop i.e. the geometric mean values of measured concentrations were 1.86, 1.27 and 1.95 mg/m<sup>3</sup>, respectively. Workers' exposures in hot rolling and cold rolling were clearly lower, 0.22 and 0.14 mg/m<sup>3</sup>, respectively, due to the fact that workers spend most of their time in control rooms, and furthermore, there are no hot processes in the cold rolling mill, thus the formation of the particles is negligible compared to that in the earlier production phases which require high process temperatures. Workers' personal occupational exposure levels to total dust reported earlier in the same plant were 1.5 mg/m<sup>3</sup> in the ferrochromium smelter, 1.8 mg/m<sup>3</sup> in the stainless steel melting shop and 0.3–0.5 mg/m<sup>3</sup> in cold rolling (Huvinen et al. 1993). Workers spent on average 85 % of their working time in the control rooms, which substantially affected their exposure. With one exception, personal exposure levels in this study were below 50 % of the Finnish eight-hour OEL for inorganic dust (10 mg/m<sup>3</sup>). The highest personal exposure (5.7 mg/m<sup>3</sup>) was measured in the stainless steel melting shop, where a worker was operating the process control and undertaking maintenance tasks near the electric arc furnace and argon-oxygen decarbonization converter.

Similar to mass concentrations, particle number concentrations were higher in the early stages of the stainless steel production chain. Total particle number concentrations measured with SMPS+C in the sintering plant, ferrochromium smelter, stainless steel melting shop and hot rolling mill were  $670 \times 10^3$ ,  $2740 \times 10^3$ ,  $2480 \times 10^3$ , and  $1340 \times 10^3$  particles/cm<sup>3</sup>, respectively. The lowest total particle number concentration,  $332 \times 10^3$  particles/cm<sup>3</sup>, was measured in the cold rolling mill. Particle number concentrations have not been reported previously in the stainless steel production chain. However, similar results have been reported in other industrial environments, such as foundries and welding shops (Chen et al. 2008, Evans et al. 2008, Heitbrink et al. 2009).

Particle number concentrations were lower in the control rooms than in the measured production areas, except in the sintering plant control room where the particle number concentration was higher than in the other studied control rooms. Changes in the sintering process were seen in control room measurements, which suggests that particles were originating from the process via air leakage points. No differences were observed in particle concentrations between the sintering plant control room and other control rooms in the particle mass measurements (data shown in Paper III). Thus, without real-time particle number measurements, these leakages would not have been identified. However, particle number measurements with SMPS and ELPI can challenging in large scale industrial environments when conducting an occupational exposure assessment due to the large size, complex

operation, and high costs of the instruments. In addition to stationary sampling, realtime personal exposure assessment to particle number concentrations and lung deposited surface area measurements can be conducted nowadays with instruments such as DiscMini (Testo SE & Co, USA). Stationary sampling results are usually more crude estimates of personal exposure. If one wishes to obtain more accurate information about workers' exposure to hazardous substances, then the exposure assessment should be based on personal measurements. Environmental studies have shown that personal measurements give higher results compared to static sampling (Harrison et al. 2012). However, static measurements conducted at the emission source are similar to the levels reported for personal samples (Corn 1983, Lange 1999).

Controlling the exposure to metal particles should follow the commonly used control measures and hierarchy to prevent exposure to hazardous materials (Figure 7). In general, the most effective ways to control exposures include elimination or substitution of the hazard. In welding shops, robot welding can prevent exposure and at the same time increase productivity. If elimination or substitution is not possible, which is often the case in welding shops and the metal prosessing industry, then engineering controls such as improvements in general ventilation or adding local exhaust ventilation or enclosures should be considered to limit exposure, even though these may require large investments. Furthermore, particle exposure can be reduced with administrative controls; these may include training, working procedures and instructions. The final way to control particle exposure is using personal protection equipment (PPE; e.g. respirators, gloves, safety glasses). In welding work, protection of eyes and face from ultraviolet and infrared radiation, heat and splash is always needed.



Figure 7. The hierarchy of control; steps for exposure reduction (adapted from NIOSH).

# 6.2 HEMATOLOGICAL AND SYSTEMIC INFLAMMATION MARKERS

#### 6.2.1 Welding

Exposure to welding fume particles caused a mild systemic inflammatory response; this was observed as statistically significant changes in blood hematological and systemic inflammation markers. Changes were detected in hemoglobin, leukocytes, neutrophils, platelets, IL-1 $\beta$  and E-selectin levels. Similar changes were found in workers after the work shift and in study subjects after the welding exposure tests. Exposure induced a significant decrease in the hemoglobin level as well as in the number of erythrocytes in both study groups. This finding has not been observed in other studies dealing with acute effects of welding fumes (Kim et al. 2005, Palmer et al. 2006, Scharrer et al. 2007), even though not all basic hematological markers have been investigated in studies investigating systemic inflammation after metal particle exposure. However, a significant negative association between the concentration of ambient particulate matter and blood hemoglobin levels has been reported (Seaton et al. 1999). The effect is especially apparent in the elderly (Gong et al. 2004, Honda et al. 2017). In this thesis, the differences in metabolic intensity and fluid shifts during moderate or low level physical work could have caused the decrease in the hemoglobin levels (Harrison et al. 1985).

The number of leukocytes and neutrophils increased significantly in both welding study groups. Kim et al. (2005) have reported similar findings. They found a significant increase in white blood cell and neutrophil counts in non-smokers after exposure to welding fumes.

An increase in the level of CRP is considered as a risk factor for cardiovascular diseases (Calabro et al. 2003, Lind et al. 2003). No changes in CRP concentrations were found in this study, but an increase in this parameter has been reported after welding fume exposure by Kim et al. (2005). In the cross-over study of Hartman et al. (2013), increases in the high sensitive CRP levels and neutrophil counts were detected after MIG welding of zinc coated steel. In the controlled welding fume exposure study of Markert et al. (2016), male volunteers were exposed to either zinc or copper or zinc and copper and all of these exposures signifigantly increased blood CRP levels (Markert et al. 2016). In line with this thesis, neither Scharrer et al. (2007) nor Palmer et al. (2006) observed any changes in CRP levels after exposure to welding fumes.

Platelets are important determinants of acute cardiovascular events. In the welding exposure study, the number of platelets increased after both welding challenge tests. Conversely in the workplace study, the platelet count tended to decrease, although the change was not statistically significant (Table 10). An elevated platelet count in peripheral blood has previously been reported after inhalation of diesel exhaust particles (Krishnan et al. 2013). Reactive thrombocytosis due to

increased inflammation or bone marrow stimulation could have caused the increase in platelet count.

The association between welding fume exposure and IL-1 $\beta$  or soluble E-selectin levels has not been studied before. E-selectin is an endothelial cell surface marker; in its soluble, circulating form, it is considered to be a marker of activation of vascular endothelium by TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ . The concentration of IL-1 $\beta$  decreased in this study significantly during the work shift, but these changes were not seen in subjects who participated in the welding exposure tests. In addition, the E-selectin level declined in the workplace study subjects. A decrease in the E-selecting level was also observed among welding challenge test participants, but only after the MS exposure test. Previously, E-selectin has been associated with acute myocardial infarction (Suefuji et al. 2000) and coronary artery disease (Fang et al. 2004).

No statistical differences were found here in the concentrations of acute-phase inflammation mediators such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6 and IL-8. Statistical significant changes in TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-8 have not been reported in humans following exposure to welding fumes (Scharrer et al. 2007, Umukoro 2016), although in the publication of Ohlson et al. (2010), an increase in the IL-6 level was observed after occupational particle exposure in different industrial work environments. Furthermore, increases in TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6 and IL-8 levels have been detected in bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) after zinc oxide fume exposure (Blanc et al. 1993, Kuschner et al. 1997, Fine et al. 2000).

#### 6.2.2 Ferrochromium and stainless steel production

The associations between particle exposure, different chromium compounds and systemic inflammation have not been studied previously in stainless steel production workers. Some associations in the Cr-exposed groups in relation to blood inflammation markers were found but these differences could not be explained with any specific evaluated particle concentrations.

Blood IL-6 and IL-8 levels were highest in the  $Cr^{3+}$  group. The evaluated particle number concentration was also highest in the  $Cr^{3+}$  group. However, statistical analyses did not reveal any significant association between the evaluated particle number exposure and IL-6 and IL-8 levels.

Interestingly, the CRP level was the highest in the control group. This is in line with the study of Kim et al. (2005), who reported the same trend in CRP levels before welding fume exposure. In the non-exposed control group, the baseline CRP level was higher before undertaking the exposure test to welding fumes as compared to the welder group, however the difference was not statistically significant (Kim et al. 2005).

Adipokines, such as adiponectin and adipsin, have been shown to regulate inflammatory responses, also in the lungs (Sood 2010). No differences between the study groups' adiponectin and adipsin levels were found in this study. Sauni et al. (2012) examined the associations between silica exposure and blood inflammation

markers; they reported that silica exposure was associated significantly with increased adiponectin and adipsin levels.

# 6.3 LUNG FUNCTION AND PULMONARY INFLAMMATION MARKERS

#### 6.3.1 Welding

Exposure to welding fumes has been associated with reduced pulmonary function and asthma as described in paragraph 2.3.2. However, this study did not detect amy statistically significant FEV<sub>1</sub> or PEF changes in workers' lung function test results compared to their levels before the work shift. In the participants undergoing the welding challenge, there were slight reductions in the FEV<sub>1</sub> and PEF values after both MS and SS tests and only the FEV<sub>1</sub> decrease after MS exposure was not statistically significant. In the study of Akbar-Khanzadeh (1993), the reductions in the lung function parameters measured before and after the work shift were approximately four times greater among welders than among the non-exposed controls. In this study, the differences in lung function results between workplace and exposure test groups could be explained by the fact that 89 % of subjects who participated in the welding challenge test had asthma. In contrast, in the workplace study subjects, there were only two (10 %) who had physician diagnosed asthma.

It has been postulated that changes in welders' lung function are transient, occurring at the time of exposure and returning to normal during non-exposure periods (Donoghue et al. 1994, Sobaszek et al. 2000, Zeidler-Erdely et al. 2014). However, little is known about the long term significance of the acute declines in welders' lung function.

No statistically significant changes in welders' eNO levels were found either in the workplace study subjects after the work shift or in the subjects who participated in the welding exposure tests.

Due to the small number of study subjects in both welding study groups, it was not possible to assess the role of lifestyle markers, e.g. smoking, blood glucose and lipid levels (Papers I and II). However, the average blood glucose baseline level was elevated in the workplace study group (Paper I) and in both study groups, the lipid levels were higher than the Finnish reference value. There are some air pollution studies which have suggested that oxidative stress following particle exposure may be linked with impaired metabolism of glucose and lipids (Chuang et al. 2010, Yitshak Sade et al. 2016). Furthermore, several studies have reported a negative interaction between smoking and increased risk of adverse health outcomes related exposure to welding fumes (Chinn et al. 1990, Vallières et al. 2012, Haluza et al. 2014, Wong et al. 2017).

### 6.3.2 Ferrochromium and stainless steel production

The associations between particle exposure, different chromium compounds and pulmonary inflammation have not been studied previously in stainless steel production workers. The concentration of alveolar eNO was higher in the Cr<sup>3+</sup> group as compared to the control group. In addition, the 8-isoprostane level in EBC was higher in the Cr-exposed groups than in the control group. The concentration of the leukotriene, LTB4, in EBC was in the same range in all study groups. Previously, increased EBC LTB4 levels have been observed by Dierschke et al. (2017) when welders with and without work-related symptoms in the lower airways and non-welders without symptoms, were exposed to welding fumes (1 mg/m<sup>3</sup>) and to filtered air. In that work, the LTB4 concentration decreased significantly in all participants after welding exposure as compared to when they were breathing filtered air.

There was no evidence for any consistent association between pulmonary inflammation markers and any of the evaluated particle exposure concentrations in the statistical analyses.

## 7 CONCLUSIONS

According to this study, workers' particle mass exposure was higher in welding shops than in a stainless steel plant. Particle number exposure was not measured in welding shops, but welding exposure challenge tests indicated that most of the particles generated in welding and in stainless steel production phases are 10-40 nm in size.

This study revealed that metal workers' particle exposure can be considerable in welding shops, especially among sheet metal workers. Sheet metal workers did not use personal respiratory protective equipment or they used less efficient respirators than welders. Thus, sheet metal workers' exposure to the particles generated from sheet metal and welding processess can be higher than that of welders.

In stainless steel production work, both particle mass and number exposure are highest at the beginning of the production chain in the sintering, ferrochromium smelting and stainless steel melting processes. The lowest particle levels were present in the cold rolling mill. Workers' particle exposure in stainless steel production phases may be low or moderate when measured as the mass concentration but not as the number concentration. Process workers spent most (approximately 85 %) of their working time in the control rooms breathing filtered air which reduced their personal exposure. However, particle number measurements in the control rooms revealed leakages from the process area leading to some exposure to particles also in these rooms. Good general ventilation is important in all workplaces where there are airborne metal particles. In confined spaces and in areas with poor ventilation, and in tasks where molten metals are present, it may be necessary to utilize personal respiratory protective equipment if no other occupational hygiene control measures can be applied.

Welding fume exposure induced a mild systemic inflammatory response following the work shift and welding fume challenge tests. During the work shift and exposure tests, the numbers of peripheral blood leukocytes and neutrophils increased whereas the hemoglobin level and the number of erythrocytes decreased significantly. In addition, the concentration of IL-1 $\beta$  and E-selectin decreased statistically significantly during the working day. A statistically significant decrease in the E-selectin level was also observed after MS welding challenge test.

No changes were observed in pulmonary function in the welding workplace participants. However, there were slight reductions in the FEV<sub>1</sub> and PEF values after both welding exposure tests. Furthermore, no statistically significant changes of eNO were found after the work shift nor in the welding exposure tests.

During stainless steel production, particle exposure did not affect on peripheral blood or pulmonary inflammation markers in a manner that would be predicted from industrial hygienic measurements. Personal exposure levels are rather low in comparison to the particle concentrations measured in the production areas of the plant; this was attributable to the relatively long time that the workers spend in the control rooms. In addition, SS production workers use efficient personal respiratory protection while performing the most dusty tasks.

The long term significance of the acute systemic inflammation and acute lung function decline is not clear. Inflammatory processes may be important triggering steps in mediating adverse cardiovascular events or even cancer associated with metal particle exposure. Thus, factors affecting particle generation, exposure and deposition, such as the type of particles generated, the particle size and concentration, are significant factors that should be considered when developing workplace protective strategies.

## REFERENCES

- AFS 2015:7(Arbetsmiljöverkets författningssamling). 2015. Arbetsmiljöverket, Stockholm. <u>https://www.av.se/globalassets/filer/publikationer/foreskrifter/hygieniska-gransvarden-afs-2015-7.pdf</u> (3.2.2018).
- Ambroise D., Wild P., Moulin J.J. 2006. Update of a meta-analysis on lung cancer and welding. Scand J Work Environ Health 32: 22–31.
- Antonini J.M. 2003. Health effects of welding. Crit Rev Toxicol 33: 61-103.
- Antonini J.M., Lewis A.B., Roberts J.R., Whaley D.A. 2003. Pulmonary effects of welding fumes: review of worker and experimental animal studies. Am J Ind Med 43: 350-360.
- Antonini J.M., Taylor M.D., Zimmer A.T., Roberts J.R. 2004. Pulmonary responses to welding fumes: role of metal constituents. J Toxicol Environ Health, Part A, 67: 233-249.
- Antonini J.M., Leonard S.S., Roberts J.R., Solano-Lopez C., Young S.H., Shi X., Taylor M.D. 2005. Effect of stainless steel manual metal arc welding fume on free radical production, DNA damage, and apoptosis induction. Mol Cell Biochem 279: 17–23.
- Antonini J.M. Afshari A.A., Stone S., Chen B., Schwegler-Berry D., Fletcher W.G., Goldsmith W.T., Vandestouwe K.H., Mckinney W., Castranova V., Frazer D.G. 2006. Design, construction, and characterization of a novel robotic welding fume generator and inhalation exposure system for laboratory animals. JOEH 3: 194-203.
- Akbar-Khanzadeh F. 1993. Short-term respiratory function changes in relation to workshift welding fume exposures. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 64: 393–397.
- Akesson B., Skerfving S. 1985. Exposure in welding of high nickel alloy. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 56: 111–117.
- Alving K., Weitzberg E, Lundberg J.M. 1993. Increased amount of nitric oxide in exhaled air of asthmatics. Eur Respir J 6: 1368–1370.
- Asbach C., Kaminski H., von Barany D., Kuhlbusch T.A.J., Monz C., Dziurowitz N., Pelzer J., Vossen K., Berlin K., Dietrich S., Götz U., Kiesling H.J., Schierl R., Dahmann D. 2012. Comparability of portable nanoparticle exposure monitors. Ann Occup Hyg 56: 606–621.
- Arango Duque G., Descoteaux A. 2014. Macrophage cytokines: involvement in immunity and infectious diseases. Front Immunol 5: 491.
- Axelsson G., Rylander R., Schmidt A. 1980. Mortality and incidence of tumours among ferrochromium workers. Br J Ind Med 37: 121–127.
- Balasubramanian S.K., Poh K.W., Ong C.N., Kreyling W.G., Ong W.Y., Yu L.E. 2013. The effect of primary particle size on biodistribution of inhaled gold nano-agglomerates. Biomaterials 34: 5439-5452.
- Banks D.E., Shah A.A., Lopez M., Wang M.L. 1999. Chest illnesses and the decline of FEV1 in steelworkers. J Occup Environ Med 41: 1085-1090.
- Barceloux D.G. 1999. Zinc. J Toxicol Clin Toxicol 37):279-292.
- Baumann R., Joraslafsky S., Markert A., Rack I., Davatgarbenam S., Kossack V., Gerhards B., Kraus T., Brand P., Gube M. 2016. IL-6, a central acute-phase mediator, as an early biomarker for exposure to zinc-based metal fumes. Toxicology 373: 363-373.
- Bayr H. 2005. Reactive oxygen species. Crit Care Med, 33: S498-S501.
- Beach J.R., Dennis J.H., Avery A.J., Bromly C.L., Ward R.J., Walters E.H., Stenton S.C., Hendrick D.J. 1996. An epidemiologic investigation of asthma in welders. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 154: 1394-1400.
- Beutler B.A. 1999. The role of tumor necrosis factor in health and disease. J Rheumatol Suppl 57:16-21.
- Bickel M. 1993. The role of interleukin-8 in inflammation and mechanisms of regulation. J Periodontol 64: 456-460.
- Blanc P.D., Boushey H.A., Wong H., Wintermeyer S.F., Bernstein M.S. 1993. Cytokines in metal fume fever. Am Rev Respir Dis 147: 134-138.

- Bradshaw L.M., Fishwick D., Slater T., Pearce N. 1998. Chronic bronchitis, work related respiratory symptoms, and pulmonary function in welders in New Zealand. Occup Environ Med 55: 150-154.
- Bravo M.A., Ebisu K., Dominici F., Wang Y., Peng R.D., Bell M.L. 2016. Airborne Fine Particles and Risk of Hospital Admissions for Understudied Populations: Effects by Urbanicity and Short-Term Cumulative Exposures in 708 U.S. Counties. Environ Health Perspect 125: 594-601.
- Buonanno G., Morawska L., Stabile L. 2011. Exposure to welding particles in automotive plants. J Aerosol Sci 42: 295-304.
- Calabró P., Willerson J.T., Yeh E.T. 2003. Inflammatory cytokines stimulated C-reactive protein production by human coronary artery smooth muscle cells. Circulation 108: 1930-1932.
- Cappelletti R., Ceppi M., Claudatus J., Gennaro V. 2016. Health status of male steel workers at an electric arc furnace (EAF) in Trentino, Italy. J Occup Med Toxicol 11: 7. doi: 10.1186/s12995-016-0095-8
- Castano R., Suarthana E. 2014. Occupational rhinitis due to steel welding fumes. Am J Ind Med. 57: 1299-1302.
- Cavallari J.M., Eisen E.A., Fang S.C., Schwartz J., Hauser R., Herrick R.F., Christiani D.C. 2008. PM2.5 metal exposures and nocturnal heart rate variability: a panel study of boilermaker construction workers. Environ Health 7:36.
- Cena L.G., Chen B.T., Keane M.J. 2016. Evolution of welding-fume aerosols with time and distance from the source. Weld J 95(suppl): 280-285.
- Chen Y.-H., Chao Y.-C., Wu C.-H., Tsai C.-J., Uang S.-N., Shih T.-S. 2008. Measurements of ultrafine particle concentrations and size distributions in an iron foundry. J Hazard Mater 158: 124–130.
- Cheng Y-S. 2011. Condensation particle counters. In Kulkarni, P., Baron, B.A. & Willeke, K. (eds.) Aerosol Measurement: Principles, Techniques, and Applications. 3<sup>th</sup> edition. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. p. 381-392.
- Chinn D.J., Steveson I.C., Cotes J.E. 1990. Longitudinal respiratory survey of shipyard workers: effects of trade and atopic status. Br J Ind Med 47: 83–90.
- Chuang K.J., Yan Y.H., Cheng T.J. 2010. Effect of air pollution on blood pressure, blood lipids, and blood sugar: a population-based approach. J Occup Environ Med 52: 258–262.
- Coggon D., Inskip H., Winter P., Pannett B. 1994. Lobar pneumonia: an occupational disease in welders. The Lancet 344: 41-43.
- Contreras G.R., Chan-Yeung M. 1997. Bronchial reactions to exposure to welding fumes. Occup Environ Med 54: 836-839.
- Cook K.S., Min H.Y., Johnson D., Chaplinsky R.J., Flier J.S., Hunt C.R., Spiegelman B.M. 1987. Adipsin: a circulating serine protease homolog secreted by adipose tissue and sciatic nerve. Science 237: 402-405.

Corn M. 1983. Assessment and control of environmental exposure. J Allergy Clin Immunol 72: 231-241.

- Cosgrove M.P. 2015. Pulmonary fibrosis and exposure to steel welding fume. Occup Med (Lond) 65: 706-712.
- Crooks S.W., Stockley R.A. 1998. Leukotriene B4. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 30: 173-178.
- Dasch J., D'Arcy J. 2008. Physical and chemical characterization of airborne particles from welding operations in automotive plants. JOEH 5: 444-454.
- Davenport A.P., Hyndman K.A., Dhaun N., Southan C., Kohan D.E., Pollock J.S., Pollock D.M., Webb D.J., Maguire J.J. 2016. Endothelin. Pharmacol Rev 68: 357-418.
- Dierschke K., Isaxon C., Andersson U.B., Assarsson E., Axmon A., Stockfelt L., Gudmundsson A., Jönsson B.A., Kåredal M., Löndahl J., Pagels J., Wierzbicka A., Bohgard M., Nielsen J. 2017. Acute respiratory effects and biomarkers of inflammation due to welding-derived nanoparticle aggregates. Int Arch Occup Environ Health doi: 10.1007/s00420-017-1209-z.
- DFG. 2012a. Allgemeiner Staubgrenzwert (A-Fraktion) (Granuläre biobeständige Stäube (GBS). The MAK Collection for Occupational Health and Safety. [In German].
- DFG. 2012b. General Threshold Limit Value for Dust [MAK Value Documentation, 1999]. The MAK Collection for Occupational Health and Safety. 240–270.
- Dinarello C.A. 2000. Proinflammatory cytokines. Chest 118: 503-508.
- Dominici F., Peng R.D., Bell M.L., Pham L., McDermott A., Zeger S.L., et al. 2006. Fine particulate air pollution and hospital admission for cardiovascular and respiratory diseases. J Am Med Assoc 295: 1127-1134.
- Dominici F., McDermott A., Zeger S.L., Samet J.M. 2003. National maps of the effects of particulate matter on mortality: Exploring geographical variation. Environ Health Perspect 111: 39-42.
- Donoghue A.M., Glass W.I., Herbison G.P. 1994. Transient changes in the pulmonary function of welders: a cross sectional study of Monday peak expiratory flow. Occup Environ Med 51: 553-556.
- Elihn K., Berg P. 2009. Ultrafine particle characteristic in seven industrial plants. Ann Occup Hyg 53: 475-484.
- Elihn K., Berg P., Lidén G. 2011. Correlation between airborne particle concentrations in seven industrial plants and estimated respiratory track deposition by number, mass and elemental composition. J Aerosol Sci 42: 127-141.
- Erkinjuntti-Pekkanen R., Slater T., Cheng S., Fishwick D., Bradshaw L., Kimbell-Dunn M., Dronfield L., Pearce N. 1999. Two year follow up of pulmonary function values among welders in New Zealand. Occup Environ Med 56: 328–333.
- European Standardization Committee (CEN). 1993. Workplace atmospheres Size fraction definitions for measurement of airborne particles. European standard EN 481, Brussels.
- Evans D.E., Heitbrink W.A., Slavin T.J., Peters T.M. 2008. Ultrafine and respirable particles in an automotive grey iron foundry. Ann Occup Hyg 52: 9–21.
- Fang L., Wei H., Mak K.H., Xiong Z., Song J., Wang D., Lim Y.L., Chatterjee S. 2004. Markers of lowgrade inflammation and soluble cell adhesion molecules in Chinese patients with coronary artery disease. Can J Cardiol 20: 1433-1438.
- Fang S.C., Cavallari J.M., Eisen E.A., Chen J.-C., Mittleman M.A., Christiani D.C. 2009. Vascular function, inflammation, and variations in cardiac autonomic responses to particulate matter among welders. Am J Epidem 169: 848-856.
- Fang S.C., Eisen E.A., Cavallari J.M., Mittleman M.A., Christiani D.C. 2010. Circulating adhesion molecules arter short-term exposure to particulate matter among welders. Occup Environ Med 67: 11-16.
- Fang S.C., Cassidy A., Christiani D.C. 2010. A systematic review of occupational exposure to particulate matter and cardiovascular disease. Int J Environ Res Public Health 7: 1773-1806.
- Fine J.M., Gordon T., Chen L.C., Kinney P., Falcone G., Sparer J., Beckett W.S. 2000. Characterization of clinical tolerance to inhaled zinc oxide in naive subjects and sheet metal workers. J Occup Environ Med 42: 1085-1091.
- FIOH (Finnish Institute of Occupational Health). 2016. Hengittyvän ja alveolijakeisen pölyn tavoitetasoperustelumuistio, Tavoitetaso TU-01-2016, 19.8.2016. [In Finnish].
- Fireman E., Lerman Y., Stark M., Schwartz Y., Ganor E., Grinberg N., Frimer R., Landau D.A., Zilberberg M., Barenboim E., Jacovovitz R. 2008. Detection of occult lung impairment in welders by induced sputum particles and breath oxidation. Am J Ind Med 51: 503-511.
- Fletcher R.A., Ritchie N.W.M., Anderson I.M., Small J.A. Microscopy and microanalysis of individual collected particles. In Kulkarni, P., Baron, B.A. & Willeke, K. (eds.) Aerosol Measurement: Principles, Techniques, and Applications. 3th edition. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. p. 179-232.
- Gong H., Linn W.S., Terrell S.L., Anderson K.R., Clark K.W., Sioutas C., Cascio W.E., Alexis N., Devlin R.B. 2004. Exposures of elderly volunteers with and without chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) to concentrated ambient fine particulate pollution. Inhal Toxicol 16: 731-744.
- Gordon T., Fine J.M. 1993. Metal fume fever. Occup Med 8(3): 504-17.
- Graczyk H., Lewinski N., Zhao J., Sauvain J.-J., Suarez G., Wild P., Danuser B., Riediker M. 2016. Increase in oxidative stress levels following welding fume inhalation: a controlled human exposure study. Part Fibre Toxicol 13: 31.
- Guha N., Loomis D., Guyton, K.Z., Grosse Y., El Ghissassi, F., Bouvard V., Benbrahim-Tallaa L., Vilahur N., Muller K., Straif K. 2017. Carcinogenicity of welding, molybdenum trioxide, and indium tin oxide. Lancet Oncol DOI: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30255-3</u>.
- Haluza D, Moshammer H, Hochgatterer K. 2014. Dust is in the air. Part II: Effects of occupational exposure to welding fumes on lung function in a 9-year study. Lung 192: 111-117.

Hamzah N.A., Mohd Tamrin S.B., Ismail N.H. 2016. Metal dust exposure and lung function deterioration among steel workers: an exposure-response relationship. Int J Occup Environ Health 8: 1-10.

- Han S.G., Kim Y., Kashon M.L., Pack D.L., Castranova V., Vallyathan V. 2005. Correlates of oxidative stress and free-radical activity in serum from asymptomatic shipyard welders. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 172: 1541–1548.
- Han B.C., Liu I.J., Chuang H.C., Pan C.H., Chuang K.J. 2016. Effect of welding fume on heart rate variability among workers with respirators in a shipyard. Sci Rep. 6: 34158. doi: 10.1038/srep34158.
- Hannu T., Piipari R., Tuppurainen M., Nordman H., Tuomi T. 2007. Occupational asthma caused by stainless steel welding fumes: a clinical study. Eur Respir J 29: 85–90.
- Hannu T., Piipari R., Kasurinen H., Keskinen H., Tuppurainen M., Tuomi T. 2005. Occupational asthma due to manual metal-arc welding of special stainless steels. Eur Respir J26: 736–739.
- Hansen K.S., Lauritsen J.M., Skytthe A. 1996. Cancer incidence among mild steel and stainless steel welders and other metal workers. Am J Ind Med 30: 373–382.
- Harrison M.H. 1985. Effects on thermal stress and exercise on blood volume in humans. Physiol Rev 65: 149–209.
- Harrison R.M., Thornton C.A., Lawrence R.G., Mark D., Kinnersley R.P., Ayres J.G. 2002. Personal exposure monitoring of particulate matter, nitrogen dioxide, and carbon monoxide, including susceptible groups. Occup Environ Med 59: 671–679.
- Hartmann L., Bauer M., Bertram J., Gube M., Lenz K., Reisgen U., Schettgen T., Kraus T., Brand P. 2014. Assessment of the biological effects of welding fumes emitted from metal inert gas welding processes of aluminium and zinc-plated materials in humans. Int J Hyg Environ Health 217: 160-168.
- Hedmer M., Karlsson J.-E., Andersson U., Jacobsson H., Nielsen J., Tinnerberg H. 2014. Exposure to respirable dust and manganese and prevalence of airways symptoms, among Swedish mild steel welders in the manufacturing industry. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 87: 623-634.
- Heitbrink W.A., Evans D.E., Ku B.K., Maynard A.D., Slavin T.J., Peters T.M. 2009. Relationships among particle number, surface area, and respirable mass concentrations in automotive engine manufacturing. J Occup Environ Hyg 6: 19-31.
- Henricks P.A., Nijkamp F.P. 2001. Reactive oxygen species as mediators in asthma. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 14: 409-420.
- Hilt B., MD, Qvenild T., Rømyhr O. 1999. Morbidity from ischemic heart disease in workers at a stainless steel welding factory. Norsk Epidemiologi 9: 21-26.
- Hinds, W.C. 2012. Aerosol Technology: Properties, Behavior, and Measurement of Airborne Particles. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Hjortsberg U., Orbaek P., Arborelius M. 1992. Small airways dysfunction among non-smoking shipyard arc welders. Br J Ind Med 49: 441-444.
- Honda T., Pun V.C., Manjourides J., Suh H. 2017. Anemia prevalence and hemoglobin levels are associated with long-term exposure to air pollution in an older population. Environ Int 101: 125-132.
- Hopkins L.E., Patchin E.S., Chiu P.L., Brandenberger C., Smiley-Jewell S., Pinkerton K.E. 2014. Nose-tobrain transport of aerosolised quantum dots following acute exposure. Nanotoxicology 8:885-893.
- Houstis N., Rosen E.D., Lander E.S. 2006. Reactive oxygen species have a causal role in multiple forms of insulin resistance. Nature 440: 944-948.
- Huvinen M. 2002. Exposure to chromium and its long-term health effects in stainless steel production. PhD dissertation, Department of Public Health and General Practice, University of Kuopio, Finland.
- Huvinen M., Kiilunen M., Oksanen L., Koponen M., Aitio A. 1993. Exposure to chromium and its evaluation by biological monitoring in the production of stainless steel. J Occup Med Toxicol 2: 205-216.
- Huvinen M., Pukkala E. 2013. Cancer incidence among Finnish ferrochromium and stainless steel production workers in 1967-2011: a cohort study. BMJ Open 3(11): e003819. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-003819
- Huvinen M., Pukkala E. 2016. Cause-specific mortality in Finnish ferrochromium and stainless steel production workers. Occup Med (Lond) 66: 241-246.

- Huvinen M., Uitti J., Zitting A., Roto P., Virkola K., Kuikka P., Laippala P., Aitio A. 1996. Respiratory health of workers exposed to low levels of chromium in stainless steel production. Occup Environ Med 53: 741–747.
- Huvinen M., Uitti J., Oksa P., Palmroos P., Laippala P. 2002. Respiratory health effects of long-term exposure to different chromium species in stainless steel production. Occup Med (Lond) 52: 203–212.
- Iavicoli I., Leso V., Fontana L., Cottica D., Bergamashi A. 2013. Characterization of inhalable, thoracic, and respirable fractions and ultrafine particle exposure during grinding, brazing, and welding activities in a mechanical engineering factory. JOEM 55: 430-445.
- IARC (International Agency for Research on Cancer). 1990. IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans. Volume 49. Chromium, Nickel and Welding. Lyon, France.
- IARC (International Agency for Research on Cancer). 2012. IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans. Volume 100C. Arsenic, Metals, Fibres and Dusts. Lyon, France.
- ICRP (International Commission on Radiologiv'cal Protection). 1994. Human respiratory model for radiological protection. Ann ICRP 24: 1-300.
- IFA (2016) GESTIS International limit values for chemical agents. http://limitvalue.ifa.dguv.de/
- ILO. 2016. ILO Encyclopaedia of Occupational Health and Safety, 4<sup>th</sup> edition. Chapter 82 Metal Processing and Metal Working Industry. <u>http://www.ilocis.org/documents/chpt82e.htm</u>
- Ilves M., Palomäki J., Vippola M., Lehto M., Savolainen K., Savinko T., Alenius H. 2014. Topically applied ZnO nanoparticles suppress allergen induced skin inflammation but induce vigorous IgE production in the atopic dermatitis mouse model. Part Fibre Toxicol 11:38. doi: 10.1186/s12989-014-0038-4.
- INRS (2016). Valeurs limites d'exposition professionnelle aux agents chimiques en France. ED 984, 10/2016.
- Johnsen H.L., Hetland S.M., Benth J.S., Kongerud J., Søyseth V. 2008. Quantitative and qualitative assessment of exposure among employees in Norwegian smelters. Ann Occup Hyg 52: 623-633.
- Järvinen A., Aitomaa, M., Rostedt, A., Keskinen, J., Yli-Ojanperä, J. 2014. Calibration of the new electrical low pressure impactor (ELPI+). 2014 J. Aerosol Sci. 69: 150-159.
- Kansas G.S. 1996. Selectins and their ligands: current concepts and controversies. Blood 88: 3259-3287.
- Karjalainen A., Kurppa K., Martikainen R., Karjalainen J., Klaukka T. 2002. Exploration of asthma risk by occupation — extended analysis of an incidence study of the Finnish population. Scand J Work Environ Health 28: 49-57.
- Kaye P., Young H., O'Sullivan I. 2002. Metal fume fever: a case report and review of the literature. Emergency Medicine Journal 19: 268.
- Keimig D.G., Pomrehn P.R., Burmeister L.F. 1983. Respiratory symptoms and pulmonary function in welders of mild steel: a cross-sectional study. Am J Ind Med 4: 489–499.
- Kendzia B., Behrens T., Jöckel K.H., Siemiatycki J., Kromhout H., Vermeulen R., Peters S., Van Gelder R., Olsson A., Brüske I., Wichmann H.E., Stücker I., Guida F., Tardón A., Merletti F., Mirabelli D., Richiardi L., Pohlabeln H., Ahrens W., Landi M.T., Caporaso N., Consonni D., Zaridze D., Szeszenia-Dabrowska N., Lissowska J., Gustavsson P., Marcus M., Fabianova E., 't Mannetje A., Pearce N., Tse L.A., Yu I.T., Rudnai P., Bencko V., Janout V., Mates D., Foretova L., Forastiere F., McLaughlin J., Demers P., Bueno-de-Mesquita B., Boffetta P., Schüz J., Straif K., Pesch B., Brüning T. 2013. Welding and lung cancer in a pooled analysis of case-control studies. Am J Epidemiol 178: 1513-25.
- Keskinen H., Kalliomäki P.L., Alanko K. 1980. Occupational asthma due to stainless steel welding fumes. Clin Allergy 10:151-9.
- Keskinen J., Pietarinen, K., Lehtimäki, M. 1992. Electrical Low Pressure Impactor. J. Aerosol Sci. 23: 353-360.
- Kharitonov S.A., Barnes P.J. 2006. Exhaled biomarkers. Chest 130: 1541-1546.
- Kharitonov S.A., Yates D., Robbins R.A., Barnes P.J., Logan-Sinclair R., Shinebourne E.A. 1994. Increased nitric oxide in exhaled air of asthmatic patients. Lancet 343: 133–135.
- Kim J.Y., Chen J.-C., Boyce P.D., Christiani D.C. 2005. Exposure to welding fumes is associated with acute systemic inflammatory responses. Occup Environ Med 62: 157-163.
- Kim J.W., Park S., Lim C.W., Lee K., Kim B. 2014. The role of air pollutants in initiating liver disease. Toxicol Res. 30: 65-70.

- Kishimoto T., Akira S., Taga T. 1992. Interleukin-6 and its receptor: A paradigm for cytokines. Science 258: 593-597.
- Krishnan R.M., Sullivan J.H., Carlsten C., Wilkerson H.-W., Beyer R.P., Bammler T., Farin F., Peretz A., Kaufman J.D. 2013. A randomized cross-over study of inhalation of diesel exhaust, hematological indices, and endothelial markers in humans. Part Fibre Toxicol 10: 7. doi: 10.1186/1743-8977-10-7.
- Kulkarni P., Baron B.A., Willeke K. 2011. Introduction to aerosol characterization. In Kulkarni, P., Baron, B.A. & Willeke, K. (eds.) Aerosol Measurement: Principles, Techniques, and Applications. 3<sup>th</sup> edition. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. p. 3-13.
- Kulkarni P., Baron B.A. 2011. An approach to performing aerosol measurements. In Kulkarni P., Baron, B.A. & Willeke, K. (eds.) Aerosol Measurement: Principles, Techniques, and Applications. 3th edition. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. p. 55-65.
- Kuschner W.G., D'Alessandro A., Wong H., Blanc P.D. 1997. Early pulmonary cytokine responses to zinc oxide fume inhalation. Environ Res 75: 7-11.
- Landsiedel R., Fabian E., Ma-Hock L., Wohlleben W., Wiench K., Oesch F., van Ravenzwaay B. 2012. Toxico-/biokinetics of nanomaterials. Arch Toxicol 86: 1021-1060.
- Lange J.H. 1999. A statistical evaluation of asbestos air concentrations. Indoor and Built Environment 8: 293–303.
- Lanzinger S., Schneider A., Breitner S., Stafoggia M., Erzen I., Dostal M., Pastorkova A., Bastian S., Cyrys J., Zscheppang A., Kolodnitska T., Peters A.; UFIREG study group. 2016. Ultrafine and Fine Particles and Hospital Admissions in Central Europe, Results from the UFIREG Study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 194: 1233-1241.
- Lee B., Shao J. 2014. Adiponectin and energy homeostasis. Rev Endocr Metab Disord 15 :149-156.
- Lee M.S., Eum K.D., Fang S.C., Rodrigues E.G., Modest G.A., Christiani D.C. 2014. Oxidative stress and systemic inflammation as modifiers of cardiac autonomic responses to particulate air pollution. Int J Cardiol 176: 166-170.
- Lehnert M., Pesch B., Lotz A., Pelzer J., Kendzia B., Gawrych K., Heinze E., Van Gelder R., Punkenburg E., Weiss T., Mattenklott M., Hahn J.U., Möhlmann C., Berges M., Hartwig A., Brüning T.; Weldox Study Group. 2012. Exposure to inhalable, respirable, and ultrafine particles in welding fume. Ann Occup Hyg 56: 557-567.
- Leonard S.S., Chen B.T., Stone S.G., Schwegler-Berry D., Kenyon A.J., Frazer D., Antonini J.M. 2010. Comparison of stainless and mild steel welding fumes in generation of reactive oxygen species. Part Fibre Toxicol 7: 32.
- Leskinen J., Joutsensaari J., Lyyränen J., Koivisto J., Ruusunen J., Järvelä M., Tuomi T., Hämeri K., Auvinen A., Jokiniemi J. 2012. Comparison of nanoparticle measurement instruments for occupational health applications. J Nanopart Res 14: 718.
- Li G.J., Zhang L.L., Lu L., Wu P., Zheng W. 2004. Occupational exposure to welding fume among welders: alterations of manganese, iron, zinc, copper, and lead in body fluids and the oxidative stress status. J Occup Environ Med 46: 241–248.
- Li H., Hedmer M., Kåredal M., Björk J., Stockfelt L., Tinnerberg H., Albin M., Broberg K. 2015. A crosssectional study of the cardiovascular effects of welding fumes. PLoS One 10: e0131648. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0131648.
- Lillienberg L., Zock J.-P., Kromhout H., Plana E., Jarvis D., Torén K., Kogevinas M. 2008. A Population-Based Study on Welding Exposures at Work and Respiratory Symptoms. Ann Occup Hyg 52: 107–115.
- Lind L. 2003. Circulating markers of inflammation and atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis 169: 203-214.
- Liu S., Hammond S.K., Rappaport S.M. 2011. Statistical modeling to determine sources of variability in exposures to welding fumes. Ann Occup Hyg 55: 305-318.
- Långård S., Andersen A.A., Gylseth B. 1980. Incidence of cancer among ferrochromium and ferrosilicon workers. Br J Ind Med 37: 114–120.
- Magari S.R., Hauser R., Schwartz J., Williams P.L., Thomas J. Smith T.J., Christiani D.C. 2001. Association of heart rate variability with occupational and environmental exposure to particulate air pollution. Circulation 104: 986–991.

- Marple V.A., Olson B.A. 2011. Sampling and measurement using inertial, gravitational, centrifugal, and thermal techniques. In Kulkarni P., Baron, B.A. & Willeke, K. (eds.) Aerosol Measurement: Principles, Techniques, and Applications. 3<sup>th</sup> edition. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. p.129-151.
- Markert A., Baumann R., Gerhards B., Gube M., Kossack V., Kraus T., Brand P. 2016. Single and Combined Exposure to Zinc- and Copper-Containing Welding Fumes Lead to Asymptomatic Systemic Inflammation. J Occup Environ Med 58: 127-132.
- Martin C.J., Guidotti T.L., Langård S. 1997. Respiratory hazards of welding. Clin Pulm Med 4: 194-204.
- Matczak W., Chmielnicka J. 1993. Relation between various chromium compounds and some other elements in fumes from manual metal arc stainless steel welding. Br J Ind Med 50: 244-251.
- Matrat M., Guida F., Mattei F., Cénée S., Cyr D., Févotte J., Sanchez M., Menvielle G., Radoï L., Schmaus A., Woronoff A.S., Luce D., Stücker I.; Icare Study Group. 2016. Welding, a risk factor of lung cancer: the ICARE study. Occup Environ Med 73: 254-261.
- McSweeney P.C. 2016. The safety of nanoparticles in sunscreens: An update for general practice. Aust Fam Physician 45: 397-399.
- Meo S.A., Azeem M.A., Subhan M.M. 2003. Lung function in Pakistani welding workers. J Occup Environ Med 45: 1068-1073.
- Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, Finland. 2016. HTP Values 2016: CONCENTRATIONS KNOWN TO BE HARMFUL. Publications of the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health 2016:8. <u>http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-00-3792-5</u> (3.2.2018).
- Moroni B., Viti, C. 2009. Grain size, chemistry, and structure of fine and ultrafine particles in stainless steel welding fumes. J Aerosol Sci 40: 938-949.
- Morrow J.D., Roberts L.J. 1996. The isoprostanes. Biochem Pharmacol 51: 1-9.
- Moulin J.J. 1997. A meta-analysis of epidemiologic studies of lung cancer in welders. Scand J Work Environ Health 23: 104–113.
- Moulin J.J., Clavel T., Roy D., Dananché B., Marquis N., Févotte J., Fontana J.M. 2000. Risk of lung cancer in workers producing stainless steel and metallic alloys. Int Arch Occup. Environ Health 73: 171– 180.
- Moulin J.J., Porrefaix P., Wild P., Mur J.M., Smagghe G., Mantout B. 1990. Mortality study among workers producing ferroalloys and stainless steel in France. Br J Ind Med 47: 537–543.
- Moulin J.J., Wild P., Haguenoer J.M., Faucon D., De Gaudemaris R., Mur J.M., Mereau M., Gary Y., Toamain J.P., Birembaut Y. 1993. A mortality study among mild steel and stainless steel welders. Br J Ind Med 50: 234-243.
- Mueller E.J., Seger D.L. 1985. Metal fume fever--a review. J Emerg Med 2: 271-274.
- Nemery B. 1990. Metal toxicity and the respiratory tract. Eur Respir J 3: 202-219.
- NIOSH (The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health). 1998. Criteria for a Recommended Standard: Welding, Brazing, and Thermal Cutting. Publication No. 88-110.
- NIOSH (The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health). Hierarchy of controls. Available at <u>https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/topics/hierarchy/</u> (20.6.2017).
- Oberdörster G., Oberdörster E., Oberdörster J. 2005. Nanotoxicology: an emerging discipline evolving from studies of ultrafine particles. Environ Health Perspect 113:823-839.
- Oberdörster G., Sharp Z., Atudorei V., Elder A., Gelein R., Kreyling W., Cox C. 2004. Translocation of inhaled ultrafine particles to the brain. Inhal Toxicol 16:437-45.
- Ohlson CG1, Berg P, Bryngelsson IL, Elihn K, Ngo Y, Westberg H, Sjögren B. 2010. Inflammatory markers and exposure to occupational air pollutants. Inhal Toxicol 22: 1083-1090.
- OSHA (2018). Permissible Exposure Limits (PELs), Annotated Table Z-1. <u>https://www.osha.gov/dsg/an-notated-pels/tablez-1.html</u> (3.2.2018).
- Palmer K.T., Cullinan P., Rice S., Brown T., Coggon D. 2009. Mortality from infectious pneumonia in metal workers: a comparison with deaths from asthma in occupations exposed to respiratory sensitisers. Thorax 64: 983–986.
- Palmer K.T., Cosgrove M. 2012. Vaccinating welders against pneumonia. Occ Med 62: 325-330.
- Palmer K.T., McNeill Love R.M., Poole J.R., Coggon D., Frew A.J., Linaker C.H., Shute J.K. 2006. Inflammatory responses to the occupational inhalation of metal fume. Eur Respir J 27: 366-373.
- Palmer W.G., Eaton J.C. 2003. Effects of welding on health, XII. American Welding Society. 105 p.

Pascal L.E., Tessier D.M. 2004. Cytotoxicity of chromium and manganese to lung epithelial cells in vitro. Toxicol Lett 147: 143-151.

- Power M.C., Adar S.D., Yanosky J.D., Weuve J. 2016. Exposure to air pollution as a potential contributor to cognitive function, cognitive decline, brain imaging, and dementia: A systematic review of epidemiologic research. Neurotoxicology 56: 235-253.
- Rappaport S.M., Weaver M., Taylor D., Kupper L., Susi P. 1999. Application of mixed models to assess exposures monitored by construction workers during hot processes. Ann Occup Hyg 43: 457-469.

Rehman H.U. 2013. Acute dyspnea in a welder. J Emerg Med 45: 408-410.

Ridker P.M. 2016. From CRP to IL-6 to IL-1: Moving upstream to identify novel targets for atheroprotection. Circ Res 118: 145–156.

- Sauni R., Oksa P., Lehtimäki L., Toivio P., Palmroos P., Nieminen R., Moilanen E., Uitti J. 2012. Increased alveolar nitric oxide and systemic inflammation markers in silica-exposed workers. Occup Environ Med 69: 256-260.
- Scharrer E., Hessel H., Kronseder A., Guth W., Rolinski B., Jörres R.A., Radon K., Schierl R., Angerer P., Nowak D. 2007. Heart rate variability, hemostatic and acute inflammatory blood parameters in healthy adults after short-term exposure to welding fume. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 80: 265-272.
- SFS (Finnish Standards Association) 3860. 1988. Measurement of dust concentration in workplace air with filter method. Helsinki.
- Seaton A., MacNee W., Donaldson K., Godden D. 1995. Particulate air pollution and acute health effects. Lancet 345: 176-178.
- Seaton A., Soutar A., Crawford V., Elton R., McNerlan S., Cherrie J., Watt M., Agius R., Stout R. 1999. Particulate air pollution and the blood. Thorax 54: 1027-1032.
- Sferlazza S.J., Beckett W.S. 1991. The respiratory health of welders. Am Rev Respir Dis 143: 1134-48.
- SFS (Finnish Standards Association). 1988. Measurement of dust concentrations in workplace air with filter method, SFS 3860, Helsinki.
- Sjögren B., Fossum T., Lindh T., Weiner J. 2002. Welding and ischemic heart disease. Int J Occup Environ Health 8: 309-311.
- Sobaszek A., Boulenguez C., Frimat P., Robin H., Haguenoer J.M., Edme J.L. 2000. Acute respiratory effects of exposure to stainless steel and mild steel welding fumes. J Occup Environ Med 42: 923-931.
- Sood A. 2010. Obesity, adipokines and lung disease. J Appl Physiol 108: 744-753.
- Sorensen A.R., Thulstrup A.M., Hansen J., Ramlau-Hansen C.H., Meersohn A., Skytthe A., Bonde J.P. 2007. Risk of lung cancer according to mild steel and stainless steel welding. Scand J Work Environ Health 33: 379–386.
- Sorensen C.M, Gebhart J., O'Hern T.J., Rader D.J. 2011. Optical fundamentals measurement techniques. In Kulkarni, P., Baron, B.A. & Willeke, K. (eds.) Aerosol Measurement: Principles, Techniques, and Applications. 3th edition. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. p. 269-312.
- Statistics Finland. 2014. Employed persons by occupation group, sex, age and year 2010-2014.
- Statistics Finland. 2012. Regional and industrial statistics on manufacturing 2012.
- Storaas T., Zock J.P., Morano A.E., Holm M., Bjørnsson E., Forsberg B., Gislason T., Janson C., Norback D., Omenaas E., Schlünssen V., Torén K., Svanes C. 2015. Incidence of rhinitis and asthma related to welding in Northern Europe. Eur Respir J 46: 1290-1297.
- Suefuji H., Ogawa H., Yasue H., Sakamoto T., Miyao Y., Kaikita K., Soejima H., Misumi K., Miyamoto S., Kataoka K. 2000. Increased plasma level of soluble E-selectin in acute myocardial infarction. Am Heart J 140: 243-248.
- Suri R., Periselneris J., Lanone S., Zeidler-Erdely P.C., Melton G., Palmer K.T., Andujar P., Antonini J.M., Cohignac V., Erdely A., Jose R.J., Mudway I., Brown J., Grigg J. 2016. Exposure to welding fumes and lower airway infection with Streptococcus pneumoniae. J Allergy Clin Immunol 137: 527-534.
- Taylor M.D., Roberts J.R., Leonard S.S., Shi X., Antonini J.M. 2003. Effects of welding fumes of differing composition and solubility on free radical production and acute lung injury and inflammation in rats. Toxicol Sci 75: 181–91.

- 't Mannetje A., Brennan P., Zaridze D., Szeszenia-Dabrowska N., Rudnai P., Lissowska J., Fabiánová E., Cassidy A., Mates D., Bencko V., Foretova L., Janout V., Fevotte J., Fletcher T., Boffetta P. 2012. Welding and Lung Cancer in Central and Eastern Europe and the United Kingdom. Am J Epidemiol 175: 706-714.
- Tsuji H., Larson M.G., Venditti F.J. Jr., Manders E.S., Evans J.C., Feldman C.L., Levy D. 1996. Impact of reduced heart rate variability on risk for cardiac events. The Framingham Heart Study. Circulation 94: 2850-2855.
- Ulfvarson U. 1981. Survey of air contaminants from welding. Scand J Work Environ Health 7: suppl 2, 28 p.
- Umukoro P.E., Wong J.Y., Cavallari J.M., Fang S.C., Lu C., Lin X., Mittleman M.A., Schmidt G., Christiani D.C. 2016. Are the associations of cardiac acceleration and deceleration capacities with fine metal particulate in welders mediated by inflammation? J Occup Environ Med 58: 232-237.
- Utell M.J., Frampton M.W., Zareba W., Devlin R.B., Cascio W.E. 2002. Cardiovascular effects associated with air pollution: potential mechanisms and methods of testing. Inhal Toxicol 14: 1231-1247.
- Valko M., Rhodes C.J., Moncol J., Izakovic M., Mazur M. 2006. Free radicals, metals and antioxidants in oxidative stress-induced cancer. Chem Biol Interact 160: 1-40.
- Valko M., Leibfritz D., Moncol J., Cronin M.T., Mazur M., Telser J. 2007. Free radicals and antioxidants in normal physiological functions and human disease. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 39: 44-84.
- Vallières E, Pintos J, Lavoué J, Parent MÉ, Rachet B, Siemiatycki J. 2012. Exposure to welding fumes increases lung cancer risk among light smokers but not among heavy smokers: evidence from two case-control studies in Montreal. Cancer Med 1: 47-58.

Vandenplas O., Dargent F., Auverdin J.J., Boulanger J., Bossiroy J.M., Roosels D., Vande Weyer R. 1995. Occupational asthma due to gas metal arc welding on mild steel. Thorax 50: 587-589.

Vandenplas O., Delwiche J.-P., Vanbilsen M.-L., Joly J., Roosels D. 1998. Occupational asthma caused by aluminium welding. Eur Respir J 11: 1182–1184.

Wallace M., Shulman S., Sheehy J. 2001. Comparing exposure levels by type of welding operation and evaluating the effectiveness of fume extraction guns. Appl Occup Environ Hyg 16: 771-779.

- Wambach P.F. 2002. Variation in Exposure Levels for High Hazard Frequently Monitored Agents. AIHA Journal 63: 421–429.
- Wang Z.P., Larsson K., Malmberg P., Sjögren B., Hallberg B.O., Wrangskog K. 1994. Asthma, lung function, and bronchial responsiveness in welders. Am J Ind Med 26: 741-754.
- Watson T., Goon P.K., Lip G.Y. 2008. Endothelial progenitor cells, endothelial dysfunction, inflammation, and oxidative stress in hypertension. Antioxidants & redox signaling 10: 1079-1088.
- Weiss T., Pesch B., Lotz A., Gutwinski E., Van Gelder R., Punkenburg E., Kendzia B., Gawrych K., Lehnert M., Heinze E., Hartwig A., Käfferlein H.U., Hahn J.U., Brüning T.; WELDOX Group.
  2013. Levels and predictors of airborne and internal exposure to chromium and nickel among welders--results of the WELDOX study. Int J Hyg Environ Health 216: 175-178.
- Wolf C., Pirich C., Valic E., Waldhoer T. 1997. Pulmonary function and symptoms of welders. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 69: 350-353.
- Wong A., Marrie T.J., Garg S., Kellner J.D., Tyrrell G.J. 2010. Welders are at increased risk for invasive pneumococcal disease. Int J Infect Dis 14: 796-799.
- Wong J.Y., Bassig B.A., Seow W.J., Hu W., Ji B.T., Blair A., Silverman D.T., Lan Q. 2017. Lung cancer risk in welders and foundry workers with a history of heavy smoking in the USA: The National Lung Screening Trial. Occup Environ Med 74: 440-448.
- Yitshak Sade M., Kloog I., Liberty I.F., Schwartz J., Novack V. 2016. Association Between Air Pollution Exposure and Glucose and Lipids Levels. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 101: 2460-2467.
- Zeidler-Erdely P.C., Meighan T.G., Erdely A., Fedan J.S., Thompson J.A., Bilgesu S., Waugh S., Anderson S., Marshall N.B., Afshari A., McKinney W., Frazer D.G., Antonini J.M. 2014. Effects of acute inhalation of aerosols generated during resistance spot welding with mild-steel on pulmonary, vascular and immune responses in rats. Inhal Toxicol 26: 697-707.
- Zimmer A.T., Biswas P. 2001. Characterization of the aerosols resulting from arc welding processes. J Aerosol Sci 32: 993-1008.

## **MERJA JÄRVELÄ**

This thesis reports occupational exposure to particles in welding workplaces and in a ferrochromium and stainless steel production. Systemic and pulmonary inflammation response and pulmonary function were analyzed. Changes in workers' blood inflammation markers were found in welding workplaces. Exposure should be reduced by using control measures that improve occupational hygiene in all working environments where exposure to metal particles is likely.



## uef.fi

PUBLICATIONS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF EASTERN FINLAND Dissertations in Forestry and Natural Sciences

> ISBN 978-952-61-2809-2 ISSN 1798-5668